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PART A
GENERAL 
INFORMATION

GENERAL INFORMATION
1. SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL 

AIDS COUNCIL 

The South African National AIDS Council (SANAC) brings 

together government, civil society and all other stakeholders 

to drive an enhanced country response to the public health 

challenge of HIV, tuberculosis (TB) and sexually transmitted 

infections (STIs). The Council is not a juristic person. Under the 

direction of SANAC, the government of South Africa created 

the SANAC Trust as the legal entity (established by Cabinet) 

charged with driving all SANAC-related activities through the 

Trust Secretariat. 

Specifically, the overall mandate of the Secretariat is to 

support the implementation of the National Strategic Plan on 

HIV, TB and STIs.

2. MAIN OBJECTIVES OF SANAC

• Foster dialogue among government, civil society and all 

other stakeholders and oversee the country’s response to 

HIV, TB and STIs

• Advise government on HIV and AIDS, TB and STI policy 

and strategy and related matters;

• Strengthen the governance, leadership and management 

of the response to HIV, TB and STIs at national, provincial, 

district and local levels

• Strengthen the multisectoral response to HIV, TB and 

STIs as a contribution to the overall socio-economic 

development of South Africa, including policy review, 

programme management and coordination, technical 

assistance, capacity building and sectoral support

• Mobilise resources domestically and internationally 

to finance the response to HIV, TB and STIs, including 

estimating expenditure and resource needs, fundraising 

from domestic and international institutions, including 

Treasury, donor coordination and investigating new sources 

of funding for the multisectoral response and the National 

Strategic Plan (NSP)

• Ensure monitoring and evaluation of progress against 

the targets set in the NSP and ensure mid- and end-term 

evaluations for the NSP. Linked to this, strengthen strategic 

information (monitoring and evaluation, surveillance and 

surveys, research and knowledge management) to drive 

progress towards the achievement of NSP goals

• Create and strengthen partnerships for an expanded 

national response in South Africa to HIV, TB and STIs 

among government departments and agencies, civil 

society and non-governmental organisations (NGOs), 

donors of funds, United Nations agencies, the private 

sector and people living with HIV, TB and STIs.

While the SANAC Trust Secretariat organises and facilitates 

SANAC plenary meetings and all committee meetings and 

processes, the Trust does much more than organise meetings. 

The Secretariat works with multiple partners in government 

and other institutions to deepen the country’s ability to plan 

for the short-, medium- and long term. 

3. NSP FOR HIV, TB AND STIs 
2017-2022 

The NSP provides the strategy and the framework for a 

multisectoral partnership for South Africa to overcome HIV, TB 

and STIs, involving national, provincial and local government, 

civil society sectors, the private sector, development 

partners, all stakeholders and partners in the development, 

implementation, monitoring and evaluation of the NSP. The 

NSP outlines the goals, objectives and activities that give 

expression to South Africa’s vision and mission for the period 

2017-2022. The NSP also identifies how to strengthen relevant 

systems to enable success. All stakeholders have committed 

to using the NSP to guide their implementation plans. Together, 

this will constitute the national response to HIV, TB and STIs.  

NSP vision:      

A South Africa free from the burden of HIV, TB and STIs

NSP mission: 

South Africa on track to eliminate HIV, TB and STIs as public 

health threats by 2030

3.1 The principles guiding the 
implementation of the NSP include:

 
• A reliance on sound evidence

• Commitment to protecting and promoting human rights

• A multisectoral approach

• A people-centred approach

• A response that is inclusive and participatory

• Ensuring that no one is left behind
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by civil society, the private sector and development partners. 

Recently, as part of the NSP 2017-2022 – grounded in South 

Africa’s visionary National Development Plan (NDP) to reduce 

unemployment, poverty and inequality - all stakeholders 

committed themselves to supporting 90-90-90 targets to 

ensure timely diagnosis and management of HIV and TB. 

Furthermore, South Africa has implemented a comprehensive 

programme for managing the spread of STIs, including targeting 

people who are close to those who have tested positive for 

STIs. The approach is similar that to limit the spread of HIV 

and TB. The country also offers pre-exposure prophylaxis in 

addition to other combination prevention programmes. In 

the past year, public providers distributed 916 498 417 male 

condoms, 26 018 805 female condoms and 21 156 000 

lubricants. South Africa has a strong history of community-

driven service delivery supported by development partners, 

and also implements a cash transfer programme for young 

women aged 15 to 24 years through its Global Fund to fight 

AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria grant. Furthermore, through 

stakeholders such as the Department of Social Development 

(DSD), development partners and civil society, South Africa 

provides an array of products and services to address the 

social and structural factors that make people vulnerable to 

HIV, TB and STIs. These include social security programmes 

that target poverty, unemployment and inequality.  

The strides made have contributed to improvements in life 

expectancy, with more people living beyond the age of 62. 

Prevention of mother-to-child transmission (PMCT) has dropped 

to below 2% in certain districts, thus ensuring child survival. 

Despite this, significant challenges have the potential to lead 

to regression of progress. The high incidence of HIV among 

adolescent girls and young women (AGYW) is cause for 

particular concern. Among other factors contributing to this 

is the vulnerability of AGYW, including the high prevalence 

of gender--based violence. Going forward, stakeholders 

have committed to programmes such as the She Conquers 

Campaign, which seeks to protect, skill and empower young 

people.

While there is a focus on scaling up the comprehensive package 

of interventions to include biomedical, socio-behavioural and 

structural interventions – including social protection, the 

skilling of people and the coordination of programmes for key 

and vulnerable programmes -  the credibility of data and the 

limited evidence base that exist remain  of great concern.  

While the introduction of the Test and Treat programme and the 

reported number of people on treatment are commendable, 

there appear to be numerous people who have started 

treatment, but whose whereabouts are currently unknown, 

and this increases the risk of HIV treatment outcomes 

declining, despite the significant investments made. 

The timely identification of TB remains of major concern, 

especially as TB is currently the leading cause of death in South 

Africa. In 2015, the incidence of TB was reportedly a very high 

834 per 100 000 - an alarming 450 000 new infections. Linked 

to this is the rather high co-infection rate of TB among people 

living with HIV, which undoubtedly affects quality of life and the 

treatment success rate. Furthermore, the very high number of 

missing TB cases requires urgent attention as these individuals 

need to be linked with treatment, care and support. 

Focus must be strengthened to ensure that family and close 

relatives who are in contact with people who have been 

diagnosed with TB are tested and, if infected, treated urgently. 

Generally poor TB treatment outcomes have prevented deaths 

from TB, which is a curable disease. There is a renewed global 

focus on TB infection and through initiatives such as the Global 

Fund, all stakeholders are working towards stemming the tide 

of this pandemic. Furthermore, much needs to be done to 

strengthen credibility of STI data and the timely identification 

of people with STIs, especially given the co-infection rate with 

HIV. While the antenatal survey provides useful information 

on pregnant women with STIs and informs treatment, many 

people, including schoolchildren and partners of pregnant 

women, are currently not being reached. 

While the promotion of rights and access to justice and 

legal services has been greatly supported through national 

collaborative efforts, the stigmatisation of people living with 

HIV, TB and STIs requires a sustained national stigma and 

discrimination campaign. Recent key interventions include 

crucial memoranda of understanding (MoUs) between 

3.2 The goals of the NSP 2017-2022 are: • 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

4. SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

Performance environment 

South Africa has made significant strides and implementing a 

dedicated response to the HIV, TB and STI pandemics. Evidence 

of this includes notable political commitment and leadership, 

with the national response to HIV, TB and STIs located in the 

Office of the Deputy President, and the adoption of national 

strategic plans that have progressively expanded the rollout 

of prevention, treatment, care and support programmes to 

South Africans. Specifically, the country has significantly 

expanded HIV testing services, conducting more than 10 

million HIV tests in the 2017/18 period and linking people who 

have tested positive to treatment, care and support. A health 

awareness campaign is planned for targeted focus on testing 

for HIV and increased condom use, among other important 

interventions. 

The South African government’s spending on HIV, TB and 

STIs has grown cumulatively over the years, with funding 

for HIV programmes for the National Department of Health 

(NDoH) alone rising to R14.32 billion in 2015/16. This has been 

greatly augmented and complemented by large investments 

Goal 1: 
Accelerate prevention to reduce new HIV

 TB and STIs 
- ‘Breaking the cycle of transmission’

Goal 2:
Reduce morbidity and mortality by providing HIV

TB and STI treatment, care and adherence support 
for all 

– ‘90-90-90 in every district’

Goal 3:
Reach all key and vulnerable populations with 

customised and targeted interventions 
– ‘Nobody left behind’

Goal 5: 
Ground the response to HIV, TB and STIs in human 

rights principles and approaches 
– ‘Equal treatment and social justice’

Goal 6: 
Promote leadership and shared accountability for a 

sustainable response to HIV, TB and STIs 
– ‘Mutual accountability’

Goal 7: 
Mobilise resources to support the achievement of 

NSP goals and ensure a sustainable response 
– ‘Spend now, save later’

Goal 8: 
Strengthen strategic information to drive progress 

towards achievement of NSP goals 
- Data-driven action’

Goal 4: 
Address the social and structural drivers of HIV, 

TB and STIs
 – ‘A multi-department, multi-sector approach’

"The timely identification of 
TB remains of major concern, 
especially as TB is currently the 
leading cause of death in South 
Africa. Furthermore, the very 
high number of missing TB cases 
requires urgent attention."

The NSP also recognises the importance of building 

social and service delivery systems for successful 

implementation and to overcome bottlenecks. These 

‘cross-cutting system enablers’ are:

• Focus on social and behaviour change communication 

to ensure social mobilisation and increasing 

awareness

• Strong social systems, including strengthening 

families and communities, to decrease risks of 

transmission and mitigate the impact of the epidemics

• Effective integration of HIV, TB and STI interventions 

and services

• Strong information, procurement and supply chain 

systems

• Sufficient human resources required in number and 

mix, trained and located where needed.
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SANAC Trust and Legal Aid South Africa and a focus on 

the decriminalisation of sex work, to ensure protection and 

promote equity of sex workers. 

Also concerning is the vulnerability of key populations such 

as adolescents and young people, especially girls; men who 

have sex with men (MSM), prisoners, people who inject 

drugs, sex workers and transgender people. Resources 

must be channelled into key interventions that reduce the 

vulnerability of these individuals. 

The country needs a strategic information system to ensure 

timely identification of further risk factors, the monitoring 

of progress, the evaluation of the impact of interventions, 

surveillances, surveys and a coordinated research agenda 

that will ensure that as much as possible, the country has 

credible data on HIV, and especially TB and STIs. While several 

research and academic organisations are conducting research 

and knowledge management activities, more often than not, 

these are done in silos, and where reports are released, there 

is limited use of the evidence base to inform planning, policy-

making and improved implementation. Equally important is 

the need to facilitate active citizenry in defining the research 

agenda and using community-based initiatives that provide 

relevant information, unique to different districts. 

Partly to address the aforementioned, SANAC, in collaboration 

with relevant stakeholders, has committed itself to rolling 

out the Focus for Impact (FFI) methodology to all nine 

provinces. This will be crucial for building a credible database 

of information, working with communities to identify drivers 

of the pandemics in districts and facilitating the allocation of 

limited resources to programmes tailored to the unique needs 

of each district. District, local and ward-based AIDS councils 

that are representative of all stakeholders at the different 

levels will be crucial for this undertaking. 

Through its strategic goals and sub-objectives, the NSP 

underscores the importance of addressing the needs of key 

populations and young women and girls; the centrality of a 

multisectoral response and the impact of focus for impact. 

Given the array of key interventions required, the central 

coordination role of SANAC, the Trust and the Secretariat has 

become crucial to the implementation of the NSP and the 

realisation of its targets.   

Recognising this, the SANAC Secretariat recently 

reviewed its organisational structure in the light of the 

need for recruitment and retention of suitably qualified 

staff members to ensure that SANAC executes its 

primary mandates of coordinating and supporting the 

implementation of the NSP. The Secretariat also recognised 

the need for mobilisation of resources to support the 

implementation of the NSP. Building and strengthening 

partnerships across the board would also be crucial to 

realise the NSP vision. Functional AIDS council structures 

at provincial, district and local levels also be strengthened. 

Lastly, strategic information capacity needs to be enhanced 

credible monitoring and evaluation, an evidence-based 

approach and use of research and knowledge management 

to further support the implementation of the NSP. 

VISION
To have a South Africa free from the burden of HIV, TB and STIs. 

MISSION
To build a credible Secretariat that leads the effective implementation of the National 

Strategic Plan (NSP) through superb execution and coordination of government, civil society 

and the private sector.

OUR VISION AND MISSION
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5. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER 
MANDATES 

Overarching Mandate 

• South African National AIDS Council Trust Deed

The Trust Deed states the objects of the Trust.

• National Strategic Plan for HIV, TB and STIs

The object of the Trust stipulates that the overall 

mandate of the Trust is to coordinate and support the 

implementation of the NSP.

• PFMA and Treasury Regulations

Clause 7.5 of the Trust Deed provides that: The Trust 

should endeavour to operate and be audited, as far as 

is possible, in accordance with the requirements of the 

Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and the Treasury 

Regulations (TR). 

The SANAC Trust will comply with the PFMA and Treasury 

Regulations as if it is a Schedule 3(A) public entity as 

defined in the PFMA, with the exemption of those sections 

of the PFMA and TR that will not be applicable to the 

SANAC Trust as mentioned below:

• Corporate management

TR 33.2.1 Investigation of alleged financial misconduct 

reported to Executive Authority

TR 33.3.1 Criminal proceedings reported to Executive 

Authority.

The Trust does not have an executive authority as defined 

in the PFMA. Instead, the Trust will report any such issues 

to the Board of Trustees.

• Planning and budgeting

PFMA 52 Annual budget, corporate plan and 

shareholder’s compact by Schedule 2 

public entities and government business 

enterprises submitted to Treasury.

TR 29.2 Shareholder’s compact concluded with 

Executive Authority.

PFMA 53 Annual budgets by non-business Schedule 

3 public entities submitted to    Executive 

Authority. 

TR 30.1 Strategic Plan submitted to Executive 

Authority.   

Instead, the Trust will submit budgets, strategic plans and 

annual performance plans to the Board of Trustees for 

approval. 

• Management of working capital

PFMA38.1(j) General responsibilities of accounting 

officers - financial management and 

internal controls assurance - submitted to 

transferring department.

TR 29.1.3 Borrowing programme. 

TR 29.1.6 Borrowing programme contents submitted 

to Treasury.

TR 32.1 Borrow money for bridging purposes with 

the approval of the Minister of   Finance.

The Trust is not expected to borrow, so this is unlikely to 

be a problem.
 

• Reporting

TR 26.1 Responsibilities of designated accounting 

officers over Schedule 3A and 3C public 

entities to report quarterly to Executive 

Authority.

TR 29.3.1 Quarterly reporting on progress against 

targets in corporate and strategic plans to

 Executive Authority.

PFMA 54  Information to be submitted by accounting 

authorities to Treasury for: establishment 

of a company; participation in a significant 

partnership, trust, unincorporated joint 

venture or similar arrangement; acquisition 

or disposal of a significant shareholding 

in a company; acquisition or disposal of 

a significant asset; commencement or 

cessation of a significant business activity; 

and a significant change in the nature 

or extent of its interest in a significant 

partnership, trust, unincorporated joint 

venture or similar arrangement.

PFMA 55.1 Annual   report   and   financial statements 

to be submitted to Treasury and Executive 

Authority.

PFMA 65 Tabling in legislatures.

TR 16.3.1  Procedures to follow when a Public-private 

partnership is identified.

TR 16.5.1  Public-private partnerships to have prior 

written approval of Treasury

TR 16.6.1 The Trust will publish its annual report on 

its website and will deliver copies to donors 

and (government and non-governmental) 

stakeholders. Reporting to Treasury is not 

possible as the Trust is not recognised as a 

public entity, and all reporting will be done 

to the Board of Trustees.

• Cash management, banking and investment

TR 31.2.1 Submission to Treasury details of banking 

accounts. All bank accounts are approved 

by the Board of Trustees.

• Irregular expenditure

The definition by Treasury of irregular expenditure is 

‘transgression of a provision contained in any applicable 

legislation which shall include: (a) the PFMA, (b) the 

Treasury Regulation’. This will include transgression of 

procurement procedures.  

During the current year, there was one such transgression, 

where a signed graphic design and services contract for a 

legitimate purpose was exceeded. As the signed contract 

was exceeded, the provisions had not been complied with, 

resulting in irregular expenditure of R885 771.43.

• Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

The definition from the PFMA for fruitless and wasteful 

expenditure is ‘expenditure which was made in vain and 

would have been avoided had reasonable care been 

exercised’. During the reporting period, there was no 

fruitless and wasteful expenditure recorded.

 

 TR 30.2.1
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FOREWORD BY  
THE CHAIRPERSON  

OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

It has now been a year since the Deputy President launched the country’s fourth National Strategic Plan 

(NSP) for HIV, TB and STIs on 31 March 2017. It now falls on the South African National AIDS Council 

(SANAC) to ensure that the groundwork has been laid to drive the successful implementation of the NSP. 

As a result, the next financial year is a pivotal one for SANAC, the Trust and the Secretariat, as we work 

together with government, business, civil society, development partners and communities, to achieve the 

ambitious goals of the NSP.

The SANAC Trust has grown in strength over the last year and ensured an increasing level of corporate 

governance over the Secretariat. This is evidenced by a fourth consecutive unqualified audit opinion of the 

governance, compliance, financial management and programmatic performance.

The Trustees have reviewed the mandate of the Trust as recorded in the Trust Deed and have resolved to 

clarify that the role of the Trust is primarily to fulfil functions related to the NSP that focus on coordination, 

support, monitoring and resource mobilisation. The Trust’s programme for the next year must therefore 

aim to fulfil these objectives as far as possible with the available resources. 

The SANAC Trust must also support the Deputy President in his role as the Chairperson of SANAC as the 

body that brings together government, civil society, the private sector and development partners to dis-

cuss policies and monitor the progress of the HIV, TB and STI responses in South Africa. 

On behalf of my fellow Trustees I would like to give the Deputy President and the public the assurance that 

there is good corporate governance of the Trust and that the objectives of the Trust are being met.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the CEO and his management team for putting together 

the following 2018/19 Annual Performance Plan.  We have no doubt that this Plan will bring us closer to 

achieve the objectives of the Trust and contribute significantly to the goals of the NSP.

Dr. Ayanda Ntsaluba

Chairperson of the Board of Trustees

The SANAC Trust grew in strength over the last year and 

ensured an increasing level of corporate governance over 

the Secretariat. This is evidenced by the fifth consecutive 

unqualified audit opinion of the governance, compliance, 

financial management and programme performance.

The SANAC Trust was established to support the 

implementation of the NSP by improving coordination, 

mobilising resources, and strengthening monitoring and 

evaluation. The Trust is also required to foster dialogue and 

build consensus so that government, civil society, the private 

sector and donors cooperate to achieve the same goals for 

HIV, TB and STIs. 

It falls to the SANAC Trust, as mandated by the Deputy 

President of the Republic of South Africa, to ensure that the 

nation works efficiently together to combine its forces to 

respond to HIV, TB and STIs. The SANAC Trust exists to ensure 

that all government departments, NGOs and civil society, 

donors and the private sector are optimally engaged in the 

response.

The Trust established the SANAC Secretariat as the institution 

to facilitate the realisation of the mandate of the Trust. The 

governance of the Trust is guided by the Trust Deed and the 

Trust Property Control Act and the general principles of 

governance contained in the PFMA and the King IV Code.

The Board of Trustees meets at least four times a year and has 

committees for audit and risk, remuneration and governance 

and strategic risk. A Company Secretary has recently been 

appointed.

This annual report is being tabled for approval of the Board of 

Trustees. It catalogues both the financials and the activities 

of the Secretariat and the compliance of the Secretariat with 

applicable laws and policies. Notably, it records a favourable 

unqualified audit opinion from the external auditors. This is 

the fifth consecutive unqualified audit report the Trust has 

received since it became operational on 1 April 2012. This gives 

the Trustees confidence in the performance, management 

and administration of the Trust.

Dr A Ntsaluba 

CHAIRPERSON OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS 

COUNCIL TRUST

October 2018

FOREWORD BY THE 
CHAIRPERSON OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

It is with pleasure that I present the Annual Report of the 

SANAC Trust, covering the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 

2018. The Annual Report focuses particularly on progress 

made towards meeting the strategic objectives outlined in 

the 2017-2022 NSP, with the principles of ‘One country. One 

plan, One response’, aligned to the NDP Vision 2030 and the 

globally adopted Sustainable Development Goals. 

The annual report is being tabled 18 months after the 

launch of the NSP, an opportune time for critical reflection 

on achievements made since the launch of the NSP and 

challenges that remain. The SANAC Trust is committed 

to addressing these challenges in collaboration with the 

Board of Trustees, the SANAC plenary and all relevant 

stakeholders. 

South Africa continues to record good progress on HIV- and 

TB-related deaths, with the number of people initiated on 

HIV treatment continuing to increase, new HIV infections 

declining and more than 4 million people on treatment. 

However, new HIV infections remain relatively high and 20% of 

people on antiretroviral treatment (ART) are in South Africa, 

the highest HIV and AIDS burden in Africa. While ART levels 

are commendable, and reflective of South African society’s 

commitment to addressing the pandemic, the country will not 

be able to treat itself to eradicate AIDS. Bold prevention efforts 

will be necessary to ensure that far fewer people become 

infected with HIV. 

The number of new TB cases remains alarmingly high, 

resulting in a relatively high number of people dying from TB-

related complications, although there has been a significant 

decline compared to previous years.   

During the reporting period, the SANAC Trust, in collaboration 

with stakeholders, prioritised sexual risk-reduction 

programmes (including youth-friendly sexual health services). 

There has also been a concerted focus on strengthening 

medical methods of prevention, including stepping up medical 

male circumcision and targeted availability of ARVs for 

prevention. Notably, SANAC has committed itself to reducing 

new HIV infections from 270 000 a year to fewer than 88 

000 by 2020, an ambitious target. SANAC and partners have 

also committed to scaling up HIV, TB and STI treatment and 

care, including the full implementation of the ‘test and treat’ 

approach. 

During the reporting period, SANAC and all stakeholders have 

sought to reach key and vulnerable populations, including 

AGYW, people living with HIV, sex workers, the lesbian, gay, 

bisexual, transgender and intersex (LGBTI) community, MSM 

and people who share a home with TB patients. 

Recognising the human rights for all enshrined in the 

Constitution, SANAC and its stakeholders have sought to base 

HIV and TB responses on human rights principles. This has 

included empowering people living with HIV and TB through 

legal literacy programmes, and providing access to legal 

 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S OVERVIEW
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OFFICIAL SIGN-OFF
It is hereby certified that this Annual Performance Plan (APP):

•	 Was developed by the management of the SANAC Trust under the leadership of the Board of Trustees and is signed 

off on their behalf by the Chairperson of the Board of Trustees 

•	 Was prepared in line with the current NSP and the SANAC Trust Deed; and 

•	 Takes into account all the relevant policies, legislation and other mandates for which the SANAC Trust may be  

responsible

•	 Accurately reflects the performance targets which the SANAC Trust will endeavour to achieve given the resources 

made available in the budget for 2017/2018.
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STATEMENT BY THE  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER 
It is with pleasure that I present the APP for the SANAC Trust Secretariat for the financial year 2018/2019. 

Our plan will be implemented as we mark the first anniversary of the National Strategic Plan 2017-2022 and 

at a time when most of the Provincial Implementation Plans have been finalised and signed off by the NSP 

Steering Committee.

With an estimated 7.1 million South Africans living with HIV and accounting for 19% of the burden of HIV 

globally, South Africa has to accelerate its prevention programmes to ensure that the majority of South 

Africans who are HIV negative remain negative. The implementation of the 10-point plan of the UNAIDS HIV 

Prevention 2020 Roadmap will take centre-stage as we count down to our 2020 prevention targets. For us 

to reach the target of 75 percent reduction in HIV infections, we need concerted effort to optimally imple-

ment the biomedical and behavioural interventions that have been proven to work. We will also bring all the 

role players to work together in addressing the social and structural drivers of the epidemic; with specific 

emphasis on inequality, poverty and unemployment. 

The same impetus will be applied in accelerating tuberculosis (TB) prevention initiatives with dedicated 

focus placed on finding the missing TB cases. While we will work with all critical sectors, there will be a 

particular focus on working with the mining sector, which continues to be the most vulnerable sector to TB 

infections in the region. We will harmonise the regional investments of the Global Fund to fight AIDS, TB and 

Malaria through the TB in the Mines Project, the domestic Global Fund investments, and our own govern-

ment investments to ensure optimum impact for these resources. It cannot be business as usual when more 

30 000 people die each year from a curable disease like TB.

The roll out of the Focus for Impact methodology to all nine provinces will assist us to locate the micro-ep-

idemics in the areas that are hardest hit. This will inform targeted allocation of limited resources and the 

implementation of tailored context-specific interventions in areas that require this the most. For all this to 

happen, we will ensure that the voices of the communities are amplified by ensuring that they lead the re-

sponse in their own areas through the AIDS Councils at all relevant levels. 

I would like to express my appreciation to the Chairperson of the SANAC Board of Trustees, Dr. Ayanda 

Ntsaluba and all the Trustees for the solid visionary leadership, guidance and support to the Secretariat. I 

would also like to thank the Executive Management and all our staff for their commitment and dedication. 

With this team, I am confident that we will walk the talk.  

Dr. Sandile Buthelezi

Chief Executive Officer
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services so individuals may enforce their 

rights before the appropriate legal forums. 

Lastly, efforts towards decriminalisation of 

sex workers was a notable achievement. 

During the reporting period, SANAC 

and its stakeholders actively invested in 

strengthening the capacity of provincial, 

district and ward AIDS councils, which are 

critical for integrating leadership, ensuring 

a multisectoral product and asserting 

ownership at relevant levels. Furthermore, 

the government has ensured the effective 

and efficient mobilisation of its resources 

and those of stakeholders. There has 

also been a widespread commitment to 

innovative methods of funding. 

Recognising the importance of solid 

statistics for strategic implementation of 

the NSP, and to track performance and 

progress, SANAC and its stakeholders 

reconfigured the previous monitoring and 

evaluation unit’s initial priority focus to 

create a strategic information unit that 

would set the NSP-related research agenda, 

review and compile quarterly reports, and 

most importantly, ensure that South Africa 

has up-to date information to improve 

performance and ensure a coordinated 

effort. For instance, SANAC contributed 

to the formulation of the Human Sciences 

and Research Council survey, which has 

underscored critical issues that need to be 

considered if South Africa is to turn the tide.

Despite the significant strides made, 

SANAC recognises that high commitment 

from all role-players, and coordination, 

unity, resource-sharing and efficiency are 

critical to achieving the strategic objectives 

outlined in the NSP.  

Dr S Buthelezi

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE SOUTH 

AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST

October 2018

STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY AND 
CONFIRMATION OF 
ACCURACY FOR THE 
ANNUAL REPORT
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report are 

consistent with the Annual Financial Statements audited by 

the external auditors, ARC Inc. The annual report is complete, 

accurate and is free from any omissions.

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

applicable to the entity.

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of 

the Annual Financial Statements and for the judgments made 

in this information.

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and 

implementing a system of internal control that has been 

designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity 

and reliability of the performance information, the human 

resources information and the Annual Financial Statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent 

opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, 

the performance information, the human resources 

information and the financial affairs of the entity for the 

financial year ended 31 March 2018.

DR SANDILE BUTHELEZI 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST

October 2018

DR AYANDA NTSALUBA 

CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD

SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST
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PART C: PERFORMANCE REPORT

PART B
PERFORMANCE 
REPORT

Independent Assurance Report on Selected Performance 

Indicators

We have undertaken a limited assurance engagement on 

selected performance indicators, as described below, and 

present it in the 2017/18 annual report of the SANAC Trust for 

the year ended 31 March 2018.

Subject matter

We are required to provide limited assurance on the following 

performance indicators, prepared in accordance with the 

2017/18 Annual Performance Plan (APP), technical indicator 

descriptions published in the APP as well as any internally 

generated policies and procedures where necessary.

ARC INCORPORATED’S 
REPORT: PREDETERMINED 
OBJECTIVES

Programme Performance indicator Page

Programme 3: NSP Implementation Production of Provincial Implementation Plans 27

AIDS Councils Capacity Development package (Strategy, Training Tools and 

Procedural Guidelines) developed and reviewed annually 

AIDS Councils trained on the Capacity Development package

Report on progress on Implementation of the Stigma Reduction programme 

in named districts via provinces

Social behaviour change communication task team established and meeting 

quarterly

Quarterly transfer of funding to NGOs as per grant agreements

Programme 4: Monitoring and 

Evaluation

Annual NSP M&E report 31

Annual PIP M&E reports

GAM report

Developed National Research Agenda to support the NSP

Programme 5: Donor Coordination Number of CCM resolutions implemented 32

Funds disbursed to the Principal Recipients by the Global Fund

Oversight Committee Reports submitted to the CCM

Programme 6: Government and Civil 

Society Support

Report to the Board of Trustees regarding plenary 35

Report to the Board of Trustees regarding Civil Society Forum

Report to the Board of Trustees regarding Programme Review Committee

Production of Procedural guidelines and accountability framework for all 

structures of SANAC according to NSP
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Trustees’ responsibilities

The trustees are responsible for the selection, preparation and 

presentation of the performance indicators in accordance with 

the 2017-18 APP, technical indicator descriptions published 

in the APP as well as any internally generated policies and 

procedures where necessary. This responsibility includes the 

identification of stakeholders and stakeholder requirements, 

material issues, commitments to sustainability performance 

and the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 

control relevant to the preparation of a report that is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our independence and quality control

We have complied with the Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards 

Board for Accountants and the Code of Professional Conduct 

for Registered Auditors issued by the Independent Regulatory 

Board for Auditors, which includes independence and 

other requirements founded on fundamental principles of 

integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, 

confidentiality and professional behaviour.

ARC Chartered Accountants and Auditors Incorporated 

applies the International Standard on Quality Control 1 and 

accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of quality 

control, including documented policies and procedures 

regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional 

standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Our responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a limited assurance 

conclusion on the selected performance indicators based 

on the procedures we have performed and the evidence 

we have obtained. We conducted our limited assurance 

engagement in accordance with the International Standard on 

Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (revised), Assurance 

Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of Historical 

Financial Information, issued by the International Auditing and 

Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires that we 

plan and perform our engagement to obtain limited assurance 

about whether the selected performance indicators are free 

from material misstatement.

A limited assurance engagement undertaken in accordance 

with ISAE 3000 (revised) involves assessing the suitability in the 

circumstances of the Trust’s use of the 2017-18 APP as the basis 

of preparation for the selected performance indicators, assessing 

the risks of material misstatement of the selected performance 

indicators whether due to fraud or error, responding to the 

assessed risks as necessary in the circumstances, and evaluating 

the overall presentation of the selected performance indicators. 

A limited assurance engagement is substantially smaller in 

scope than a reasonable assurance engagement in relation to 

both risk assessment procedures, including an understanding 

of internal control, and the procedures performed in response 

to the assessed risks. The procedures we performed were based 

on our professional judgment and included inquiries, observation 

of processes performed, inspection of documents, analytical 

procedures, evaluating the appropriateness of quantification 

methods and reporting policies, and agreeing or reconciling with 

underlying records.

Given the circumstances of the engagement, in performing 

the procedures listed above, we:

• Obtained an understanding of:

 - the entity and its environment; 

 - entity-level controls;

 - the significant reporting processes, including how 

information is initiated, recorded, processed and 

reported and how incorrect information is corrected, 

as well as the policies and procedures within the 

reporting process.

• Interviewed management, employees and those 

responsible for the preparation of the report and the 

selected actual performance, as we considered necessary.

• Inspected relevant supporting documentation and 

obtained such external confirmations and management 

representations as we considered necessary for our 

engagement.

• Performed analytical procedures and limited tests of detail 

responsive to our risk assessment and the level of assurance 

required, including comparison of judgmentally selected 

information to the underlying source documentation from 

which the information was derived.

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement 

vary in nature from, and are less extensive than for, a reasonable 

assurance engagement. As a result, the level of assurance 

obtained in a limited assurance engagement is substantially 

lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had we 

performed a reasonable assurance engagement. Accordingly, 

we do not express a reasonable assurance opinion about 

whether the Trust’s selected performance indicators have 

been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 

the 2017-18 APP, technical indicator descriptions as published 

in the APP as well as any internally generated policies and 

procedures where necessary.

Limited assurance conclusion

Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence 

we have obtained, nothing has come to our attention that 

causes us to believe that:

• The selected performance indicators as set out in the 

subject matter paragraph for the year ended 31 March 

2018 are not prepared and presented, in all material 

respects, in accordance with the 2017-18 APP and related 

technical indicator descriptions included in the APP.

• The actual performance reported for the selected 

performance indicators as set out in the subject matter 

paragraph does not reflect the performance of the Trust 

for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Other matters

Our report does not extend to any disclosures or assertions 

relating to future performance plans and/or strategies 

disclosed in the report.

The maintenance and integrity of the SANAC Trust website is 

the responsibility of the Trust’s management. Our procedures 

did not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, 

we accept no responsibility for any changes to either the 

information in the report or our independent assurance report 

that may have occurred since the initial date of presentation 

on the SANAC Trust website.

Restriction of liability

Our work has been undertaken to enable us to express a 

limited assurance conclusion on the selected performance 

indicators to the trustees of the SANAC Trust in accordance 

with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. 

We do not accept or assume liability to any party other than 

SANAC Trust for our work, for this report or for the conclusion 

we have reached.

ARC Chartered Accountants and Auditors Incorporated

Registered Chartered Accountants and Auditors (SA)

Per: F van Heerden CA (S.A.)/RA

Associate

4 October 2018

1st Floor, Unit 5

299 Pendoring Avenue

Blackheath Ext 6

2195
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST 
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES

Programme 1: Governance and 
Administration

The SANAC Board of Trustees, on 28 August 2017, announced 

that Dr Sandile Buthelezi had been appointed Chief 

Executive Officer (CEO) and would commence his duties on 

1 September 2017. SANAC Board Chairperson Dr Ayanda 

Ntsaluba expressed his sincere gratitude to SANAC Executive 

Manager Dr Connie Kganakga, who acted as CEO during the 

appointment process period. 

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit progress report, Internal Audit report on 

grants management, financial discipline review, including 

follow up on human resource management, supply chain 

management and asset management as well as the audit of 

predetermined objectives were submitted to the Audit and 

Risk Committee for review.

In addition, the Internal Audit three-year rolling plan for 2019 

to 2021 and the annual coverage plan for the year ending 

March 2019 were submitted to the Audit and Risk Committee 

for review.

External Audit

The contract of the external auditor, ARC Inc, was further 

extended for one year for the 2017/18 financial year. The 

SANAC Trust received an unqualified audit opinion for the 

fifth consecutive year. The audited financial statements were 

approved by the board on 4 October 2018, two months earlier 

compared to the previous year.

Interest and VAT

The Trust continued to optimise its returns on investments 

without putting funds at risk, and through adhering to the 

Investment Policy. The Trust submits VAT returns monthly, 

allowing the trust to claim VAT from the South African Revenue 

Service (SARS) timeously.

Income

There was no noticeable movement in the total income for 

the current year compared to the previous year. However, 

there was some movement in the changes in income received 

from different funding sources.  Non-designated grant funds 

increased from R16.7 million to R22.4 million, while designated 

grant funds decreased from R49.1 million to R43.6 million. 

Fundraising

Fundraising remains the one of the most important objectives 

of the management team. The core funding from the DSD 

doubled from R7.5 million to R15 million and grants funding 

from the same department  increased from R58 million to 

R69 million, ensuring that more non-profit organisations were 

funded to expand the implementation of social behaviour 

change programmes. However, R59 million of the designated 

funds was deferred to the following year. The Trust received  

R7 million from the National Lotteries Commission (NLC) in 

the 2017/18 financial year, following a proposal developed in 

2016.

Expenditure

The year-to-date expenditure stood at R 70 million at the end 

of the financial year, resulting in a surplus of R1.8 million. The 

total expenditure includes accruals for the development costs 

of the FFI and the Global Fund CCM dashboard systems. 

The Trust continues to work with the relevant departments 

and other stakeholders to ensure that the mandate and role of 

SANAC within the larger HIV/AIDS landscape in South Africa 

is entrenched. The Trust also recognises the governance 

risks it might face, thus it has a fully functional Remuneration 

Committee, Audit and Risk Committee, and Governance and 

Strategic Risk Committee that continue to support the Board. 

Strong financial and administrative systems and policies are 

vital to support the Trust’s programmes for the implementation 

of their strategic objectives, and these systems and policies 

are continually reviewed to ensure their relevance to these 

objectives.    

Programme 2: Communications 

Media outreach

The Communications Unit partnered with Gauteng-based 

youth radio station YFM for three months to create awareness 

of the NSP. The radio station invited its listeners and students 

at the YFM Radio Academy to develop a 30-second public 

service announcement (PSA) on the NSP, containing key 

information and facts about HIV and TB. The PSAs were 

broadcast on the station between April and June and the 

estimated value of the publicity generated was R500 000. 

Interviews with key SANAC staff and NSP ambassadors were 

also broadcast during the three-month period.

The Secretariat partnered with the Mail and Guardian’s 

Bhekisisa Health Journalism programme, and hosted a 

critical thinking forum in July 2017 on the decriminalisation 

of sex work. The Communications Unit proposed the 

dialogue in response to the negative publicity that had been 

generated following the launch of the NSP and the ensuing 

critique over the plan’s silence on decriminalisation of sex 

work. The subsequent release of the South African Law 

Reform Commission recommendations on sex work, which 

did not propose full decriminalisation of sex work, placed the 

Secretariat under even more pressure to clarify its position 

on the issue.

The dialogue provided an opportunity to work with the 

National Sex Work Technical Working Group and debate the 

issue of law reform, while bringing stakeholders together to 

engage meaningfully on the realities of being a sex worker in a 

criminalised environment.

A supplement, with an opinion piece by Acting CEO Dr Connie 

Kganakga, was disseminated in the 28 July 2017 edition of the 

Mail and Guardian. The supplement was also distributed at 

events including the City of Johannesburg’s dialogue on sex 

work. The event received extensive coverage from other media 

and was the number one trending topic on Twitter on that day.

South African AIDS Conference

SANAC Chairperson, then Deputy President Cyril Ramaphosa, 

delivered a speech during the morning plenary of the final day of 

the South African AIDS Conference held in June 2017 in Durban. 

This was the culmination of events led by the Secretariat, 

which included the Acting SANAC CEO’s participation in the 

closing plenary session of the conference, which unpacked 

the new NSP. The session also featured Minister of Health Dr 

Aaron Motsoaledi, former SANAC CEO Dr Fareed Abdullah and 

Treatment Action Campaign Secretary General Anele Yawa.

The Communications Unit developed the concept for the SANAC 

exhibition stand at the conference and formed a multisectoral 

Strategic 
Objective

Performance indicator
Estimated performance Actual performance

Comments
2017/18 2017/18

Ensure the 
effective  
functioning of the 
Trust according 
to the prescripts 
of the Trust Deed 
and appropriate  
legislation
 
 
 
 

Annual performance 
plan approved

1 1

CEOs report submitted 
to Board of Trustees

4 4

Committee Charter 
reviewed and 
approved for Audit & 
Risk, Remuneration, 
Governance and Strategic 
Risk

4 4

Type of audit opinion by 
external auditor

Unqualified external audit 
report

Unqualified external audit 
report

Amount of funds raised

R120 million R88 million

Expected funding 
for 2017/18 was not 
fully awarded. Project 
funding from DST did 
not materialised. Social 
Behaviour Change 
project funding from 
DSD was delayed.

Raise funds to 
finance activities of 
the SANAC Trust

Number of sources of 
income (diversification) 7 3  
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task team consisting of government departments including 

the Department of Basic Education and NDoH, civil society and 

research organisations to produce the content for the stand. The 

idea was to launch and showcase the new NSP by unpacking 

each of the eight goals and to make the stand the central hub of 

the conference. Key activities at the stand included the launch 

of the book Sizonqoba: Outliving AIDS in Southern Africa, a 

walkabout by former SANAC Chairperson, then Deputy President 

Cyril Ramaphosa, Minister of Health Dr Aaron Motsoaledi and 

KwaZulu-Natal Premier Willies Mchunu, and the signing of a 

pledge wall of commitment to the NSP. The Unit also coordinated 

media interviews,  released two press releases at the conference 

and further assisted the CSF by organising a press conference to 

respond to allegations levelled at it.

World AIDS Day 2017

The theme for World AIDS Day 2017 was: ‘It is my right to know 

my status. Prevention is my responsibility’. The core concept 

was to focus on Goal 1 (Prevention) and Goal 6 (Leadership) 

of the NSP, while acknowledging the right to health, in line 

with the global theme. The focus was on leadership that goes 

beyond political leadership, with a particular emphasis on the 

critical role that traditional leaders can play in mobilising their 

communities to prevent HIV and TB.  

The event was held at the Walter Sisulu University stadium 

in Mthatha, Eastern Cape, and attended by an estimated  

4 000 community members. Ahead of the main event, former 

SANAC Chairperson, then Deputy President Cyril Ramaphosa, 

held a dialogue with traditional leaders and challenged them to 

become involved in national efforts to prevent HIV, TB and STIs. 

Deputy Chairperson of the National House of Traditional Leaders, 

Nkosikazi Nosandi Mhlauli, led the signing of a pledge by which 

traditional leaders committed to intensifying their role in the NSP.

The SANAC Secretariat was responsible for the overall 

coordination of World AIDS Day planning, the development 

of the concept, theme and visual identity. In addition, SANAC 

coordinated all media coverage around the event and 

developed a communications plan that was supported by civil 

society, the NDoH, the Eastern Cape Department of Health and 

the Government Communication and Information System.

A toolkit was developed by SANAC to guide stakeholders – 

from provinces to small grassroots organisations – on how 

to implement activities on World AIDS Day under the unified 

theme. The toolkit included concept note, message booklet, 

fact sheet, proposed activities and branding.

The communications task team for World AIDS Day, led 

by SANAC, developed the ‘Red Ribbon Friday’ multi-media 

campaign, calling on South Africans to use every Friday 

in November to talk about HIV prevention and their role 

in curbing new HIV infections.  A note to Cabinet was also 

prepared for Red Ribbon Fridays, and this was announced by 

the Communications Minister mid-November 2017. SANAC 

partnered with the Eastern Cape AIDS Council to officially 

launch Red Ribbon Friday on 17 November 2017 with Eastern 

Cape Premier Phumulo Masaulle.

NSP

The Secretariat developed a four-page brochure titled ‘What 

is the NSP’, providing a simplified account of the plan and how 

every South African can make his or her actions count and play a 

role in its implementation. The brochure was produced in English, 

Sesotho, Tshivenda, IsiZulu, Afrikaans, Setswana and isiXhosa. 

A Braile  version of the NSP summary report was commissioned 

in partnership with Blind SA and was disseminated to key 

partners and government departments. The Secretariat 

produced an animated two-minute explainer video on the new 

NSP, which was distributed to community broadcasters and 

NGOs, and was shared during social mobilisation events.

Programme 3: NSP Implementation

Heads of Secretariat meetings

The Secretariat has continued to work with the Provincial 

Council on AIDS Heads of Secretariats, providing both 

strategic and technical support through quarterly progress 

review meetings. During this period, the Secretariat 

conducted four meetings with the Heads of Secretariats, 

the central theme being the development of PIPs and 

multisectoral district implementation plans (MDIPs)

PIPs and MDIPs

Provinces spent much of the year completing PIPs and MDIPs 

under the leadership of the provincial councils on AIDS. A 

bottom-up approach of first finalising MDIPs and then PIPs 

was necessary to enrich PIPs and ensure that the plans were 

contextually driven and relevant as per the focus-for-impact 

approach of the NSP. The completion of PIPs and MDIPs was 

facilitated and supported by the SANAC Secretariat through 

the following initiatives:

• Reconstitution of the national NSP steering committee to 

provide strategic guidance and oversight

• Reviews of MDIPs by national task team and steering 

committee members

• Intensive provincial and district support, with  visits to the 

provinces by SANAC Secretariat staff and consultants. 

During this reporting period, five PIPs (from Eastern Cape, 

KwaZulu-Natal, Limpopo, Mpumalanga and Western Cape) 

were finalised. Forty-one of 52 districts completed draft 

MDIPS, with Western Cape (six) and Gauteng districts and 

metros (five) not drafting MDIPS. A process was initiated 

through the MEC for Health to support Gauteng districts and 

metros to finalise plans. The Western Cape AIDS Council is 

not planning to implement the MDIPS process because the 

province does not have district AIDS councils. 

AIDS councils capacity building

The Secretariat, through the support of Deutsche 

Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), 

contracted a service provider to develop the AIDS council 

capacity building toolkit and AIDS councils secretariats 

guidelines. The aim of the capacity building is to strengthen 

the functionality of AIDS councils. The toolkits and guidelines 

were developed and capacity development training was 

conducted in four provinces (North West, Mpumalanga, 

Free State and Gauteng). 

Fast-Track Municipalities initiative

South Africa has committed to implementing the Fast-Track 

Cities initiative in 19 identified municipalities. The initiative was 

launched at a Fast-Track meeting in eThekwini in 2016. The current 

MDIPS have incorporated the fast-track municipality priorities 

towards achievement of 90-90-90. A meeting is planned in the 

new financial year for implementation of the programme in three 

cities and to sign MoUs with the three identified cities. 

South African National LGBTI HIV Plan 2017-2022

SANAC launched South Africa’s first ever LGBTI HIV Plan 

at a satellite session during the SA AIDS Conference 2017 

in Durban. The LGBTI HIV Plan is a strategic guide tailored 

for challenges more prevalent among LGBTI people and is 

Strategic objective Performance indicator
Estimated 

performance
 Actual 

performance  Comments 
2017/18 2017/18

Effectively and 
efficiently coordinate the 
implementation of the NSP

SANAC News published 6 6  

World AIDS Day 
Communication toolkits 
developed

1 1  

Exhibition at the AIDS 
Conference

1 1  

Communication policy and 
strategy developed and 
approved

1 1  

Behaviour change 
communication strategy 
developed and approved

1 0
Not budgeted for in 
2017/18

SANAC Annual Report 
published

1 1  
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a milestone in the country’s response to HIV, TB and STIs. 

Funded through MAC AIDS Fund, the five-year plan supports 

and runs concurrently with the NSP.  

South African key populations cascade analysis

SANAC led the South African Key Populations cascades 

analysis in collaboration with the University of California, 

San Francisco, funded by the Centre for Disease Control 

and Prevention (CDC). Several stakeholder workshops 

were held one for MSM and transgender (TG), one for sex 

worker implementing partners and a stakeholder consensus 

workshop to validate the cascades. The resulting analysis 

provides the country’s planners and implementers with 

population size estimations for sex workers, MSM, TG and 

PWID populations, and treatment cascades to identify priority 

areas for programmatic improvement. The cascade work was 

finalised in February 2018 and the cascades were approved for 

use by the SANAC Management Committee.

Submission on the decriminalisation of sex work 

On 26 February 2018, the SANAC Trust made a written 

submission to the Multi-Party Women’s Caucus on 

decriminalisation of sex work. On 5 March, the SANAC CEO 

and Co-Chairperson made an oral presentation on the public 

health case for decriminalisation of sex work to the Multi-

Party Women’s Caucus in Parliament. 

The SANAC recommendation was informed by the 

fundamental principles that women and men involved in 

sex work must not be denied health services, information or 

advice; should not have to suffer and die from diseases that 

are preventable, that are treatable and that affect us all;  and 

can no longer be denied their constitutional rights, be beaten 

up with no recourse to justice, and be subjected to unlawful 

arrest. Thus, SANAC put forward its support for the full 

decriminalisation of sex work to achieve public health goals 

and to safeguard human rights of sex workers.

19th International Conference on AIDS and STIs in Africa 

(ICASA) Cote d’Ivoire 

SANAC led a key populations satellite session at the 19th ICASA 

in Cote d’Ivoire. Its purpose was to share the work South Africa 

has done on key populations and showcase the alignment 

of key populations interventions with the NSP. The session 

was funded by Right to Care (RTC) and Networking AIDS 

Community of South Africa (NACOSA) through the Global 

Fund grant and also included international speakers on work 

related to key populations.

PWID study tour to Mauritius

The Secretariat led a delegation of stakeholders on a study 

tour to Mauritius on PWIDs between 11 and 15 December 2017. 

In South Africa, targeted interventions for PWIDs are provided 

through partners funded by the Global Fund and United 

States President’s Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR). 

Government has not yet integrated the PWID interventions 

and, as a result, the country has very limited capacity to 

implement harm reduction interventions for PWID, hence the 

study tour. 

The study tour delegation visited various implementing sites 

for Mauritius harm reduction and methadone programmes. 

South Africa intends to develop a plan of action based on 

insights learnt from the study tour.

National Drug Master Plan (NDMP)

SANAC is supporting the Central Drug Authority (CDA) with 

the development of the new NDMP. 

AGYW

During the reporting period, the SANAC Secretariat supported 

the following activities related to the national response to 

AGYW:

• Identify gaps and opportunities for innovations in AGYW 

programming

• Share research findings, implementation science and 

programme learnings that influence AGYW programme 

design and implementation

• Outline the partnerships required between civil society 

and implementers of the AGYW programme to ensure 

optimal implementation of programmes.

This was achieved through the development of a number of 
documents, including a crosswalk of indicators defined in the 
NSP in line with AGYW programmes; Determined, Resilient, 
AIDS-free, Mentored and Safe (DREAMS) initiative, and other 
PEPFAR programmes; monitoring, evaluation and reporting, 
Global Fund (core and non-core), German Development 
Bank (Kfw) and She Conquers. Additionally, mapping of 
implementing partners per district was done for AGYW 
programmes. 

During the reporting period, data from the DREAMS and 
Global Fund programmes became available for review to 
enable decision making. This included the cumulative results 
for DREAMS in Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal since the project’s 
inception as well as quarterly and annual data from the Global 
Fund PRs.

The DREAMS male characterisation study was concluded 
and preliminary results were shared with the national task 
team. The study shed light on the characteristics of men with 
whom young women have sex. The She Conquers Committee, 
housed in the youth sector of SANAC was convened by the 
SANAC Secretariat during the year in response to a request 
made in a meeting between the Treatment Action Campaign 
and the Deputy President in his capacity as chairperson of the 
SANAC Trust. 

The national coordination and governance of the She Conquers 
campaign is not yet clarified, which poses a challenge to 
SANAC in directing the She Conquers Committee and 
engaging meaningfully on communications and stakeholder 
engagement.  

Prevention revolution

During the 2016 International AIDS Conference in Durban, 
the United Nations Joint Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) 
released a prevention gap report. This showed that, while 
there has been progress in recent years, the decline in new 
HIV infections among adults has slowed, threatening further 
progress in ending the AIDS epidemic, which poses a threat 
to public health. The report highlighted that countries will 
not meet their 2020 targets on prevention if they continue 
on the current course. A Global Coalition for Prevention 
was established and country delegations were convened by 

UNAIDS and United Nations Population Fund on 10 and 11 
October 2017 in Geneva, Switzerland. SANAC supported the 
preparation for the meeting by holding national dialogues to 
review the global roadmap and developing position papers 
on the topic. SANAC also drafted the 100-day plan to set the 
foundation for the implementation of a prevention roadmap 
to achieve the new country prevention target of <88 000 by 
2020. 

During the next financial year, the prevention technical task 
team of SANAC will be re-established to approve the 100-
day plan, to finalise the prevention roadmap and to then take 
the lead and drive the implementation of the South African 
prevention roadmap. 

Engagement with development partners/stakeholders

During the review year, the NSP unit continued to engage with 
the DSD in collaboration with KfW for the implementation 
of orphans and vulnerable children and youth (OVCY) 
programmes. A contract was signed with DSD and KfW in 
support of the community care centre programme aimed 
at supporting OVCY. The SANAC Secretariat continued 
to work with GIZ on the eastern and southern Africa 
programme transactional learning hubs focusing on sexual 
and reproductive health rights (SRHR) programmes. The 
Secretariat coordinated the Comprehensive Sexuality 

Education programme in Mpumalanga funded by GIZ.

Strategic objective Performance indicator
Estimated 

performance
Actual 

performance Comments
2017/18 2017/18

Effectively and 
efficiently coordinate 
the implementation 
of the NSP

Production of Provincial 
Implementation Plans

9 9
 
 
 
 

AIDS Council Capacity 
Development package (Strategy, 
Training Tools and procedural 
guidelines) developed and 
reviewed annually

1 1

AIDS Councils trained on the 
Capacity Development package 9 9

Report on progress of 
Implementation of the Stigma 
Reduction Programme in named 
districts via provinces

1 1

Social behaviour change 
communication Task Team 
established and meeting quarterly

1 0

Establishment of task teams 
is part of SANAC Procedural 
Guidelines and these still need to 
approved by Plenary

Quarterly transfer of funding to 
NGOs as per grant agreements 

R30 million R18.5 million

Implementation of NGO projects 
commenced later than expected 
in order to conduct training. 
Projects were concluded in 
quarter 1 and quarter 2 of 
2018/19
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Programme 4: Monitoring and 
Evaluation

NSP M&E plan

Goal 8 of the NSP advocates the use of strategic information 

to guide decision-making and improvements during the 

implementation of the NSP. To drive this process, an M&E plan 

has been developed and reviewed internally. 

The specific objectives of the five-year plan are: 

• To provide guidance on data collection and reporting that 

is useful in the M&E of the NSP

• To strengthen the focus on populations and locations with 

the highest impact on reaching NSP targets 

• To guide the development and strengthening of 

stakeholders’ M&E systems

• To assist all HIV, TB and STI stakeholders to conceptualise 

and harmonise a coordinated M&E system for the national 

response 

• To increase the understanding of trends and changes in 

HIV, TB and STI incidence over time  

• To promote utilisation of M&E data in planning and 

programme management

• To establish a multisectoral and integrated real-time data 

hub to provide updates on the epidemic and response 

accountability at all levels 

• To develop an information base for timely reporting on 

national, regional and global commitments and targets

• To track resources and determine resource needs and 

strategies for increasing efficiencies.

During the period under review, a draft M&E plan on HIV, TB 

and STIs (2017-2022) was developed and tabled at the NSP 

Steering Committee for review and input and at the CSF. The 

draft plan will be shared with stakeholders during quarter 

three of 2017/18.  

Review of PIPs and MDIPs (2017-2022)

The Strategic Information Unit participated in the review of 

PIPs and MDIPs, working with the National Technical Task 

Team to review the activities, indicators, baselines and targets 

of the plans. The purpose was to ensure that activities of the 

plans are aligned to the indicators, baselines are included, 

targets are aligned with provincial and national initiatives and 

FFI methodology is applied.

Thembisa model training workshops:

SANAC with the NDoH and in partnership with UNAIDS and 

the United States CDC supported a project to strengthen the 

capacity of local health managers to generate, interpret and 

triangulate HIV estimates for improved HIV programming. 

Provincial workshops were organised in partnership with the 

University of Cape Town. 

The purpose of the training was to strengthen triangulation, 

interpretation and use of HIV estimates and programme data 

at district level. The focus was to build capacity for the first 

27 high-burden districts in using Thembisa model data for 

planning and reporting progress in the implementation of their 

district plans. 

Following the provincial workshops attended by provincial staff 

from the NDoH and M&E units of AIDS councils, 23 district 

profiles of 27 high-burden districts were developed.  District 

profiles were developed for the following districts:

Province District

Gauteng Sedibeng, City of Johannesburg, West 

Rand and Ekurhuleni

Free State Mangaung and Thabo Mofutsanyane

KwaZulu-Natal uMgungundlovu, King Cetshwayo, 

uThukela, uMkhanyakude, Zululand, 

eThekwini, and Ugu

Limpopo Mopani

Mpumalanga Ehlanzeni, Gert Sibande and Nkangala

North West Bojanala

Eastern Cape Buffalo City, Nelson Mandela Bay and OR 

Tambo

Western Cape Cape Town

Northern Cape Frances Baard

Global AIDS Monitoring (GAM)

The ‘2016 United Nations Political Declaration on HIV and 

AIDS: On the Fast-Track to Accelerate the Fight against HIV 

and to end the AIDS Epidemic by 2030’ adopted at the United 

Nations General Assembly High-Level Meeting on AIDS in June 

2016 mandated UNAIDS to support countries in reporting on 

the commitments in the political declaration. 

This declaration built on three previous political declarations: 

the 2001 Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS, the 

2006 Political Declaration on HIV/AIDS and the 2011 Political 

Declaration on HIV and AIDS. Member states unanimously 

adopted the 2001 Declaration, which reflected global 

consensus on a comprehensive framework to achieve 

Millennium Development Goal 6: Halting and beginning to 

reverse the HIV epidemic by 2015. It recognised the need for 

multisectoral action on a range of fronts and addressed global, 

regional and country-level responses to prevent people from 

becoming newly infected with HIV, expand healthcare access 

and mitigate the impact of the epidemic.

Mid-year reporting: January 2017 to June 2017

Mid-year reporting was done for the following indicators:

• Number of adults and children receiving antiretroviral 

therapy at the end of the reporting period) - 4 160 961 

people (adults and children) living with HIV globally on 

antiretroviral therapy. The reported number included 

public (3 882 337) and private sector (278 624) (data 

from the Council of Medical Aid Schemes - CMS)

Annual Reporting: January 2017 to December 2017

On 30 March 2018, the SANAC Secretariat reported to 

UNAIDS high-level data for January to December 2017. The 

highlights were as follows: 

• Number of people on antiretroviral treatment was 

4 358 649 - 4 052 649 from the public sector and 306 000 

from the private sector –(from CMS)

• Estimated number of people living with HIV during from 

January to December 2017 - 7 203 313

• Number of people living with HIV who know their HIV 

status - 5 983 249

• Number of people newly infected with HIV during the 

reporting period - 273 531

• Percentage of infants born to women living with HIV 

receiving a virological test for HIV within two months of 

birth -  98.1%.

National Commitments Policy Instrument (NCPI) report 

The 2017 NCPI report is a measurement of the nation’s 

progress in developing and implementing policies, strategies 

and laws related to the HIV response and focuses on the 

ten national commitments. As part of GAM, the NCPI report 

presented responses from the national authorities and civil 

society sectors, whose response rates were 96.8% and 95.8%, 

respectively.

In 2018, an interim NCPI report was also compiled and 

submitted.

Reported data will be part of World AIDS Day report, which will 

be released by UNAIDS on 1 December 2018.

Private sector partnership with CMS

SANAC and CMS signed a MoU in 2016. Since 2016, SANAC, 

through the Strategic Information Unit, established a private 

sector technical working group that meets twice a year before 

annual and mid-year reporting to UNAIDS on GAM to review 

and validate reported data. In addition, meetings have been 

held to review the private sector data collection tool and align 

the following indicators:  

• NSP 2017-2022 indicators 

• 90-90-90 strategy

• HIV treatment, HIV testing services and early infant 

diagnosis cascades

• FFI.

Private sector (medical aid schemes in particular) 

Annual reporting: January to December 2016

The CMS collected data for 11 indicators for the period January 

to December 2016. The private sector data is disaggregated 

into 19 age bands and reported at national level. Private sector 

data was reported on the following indicators:

Indicator Achievement

Number of beneficiaries on the disease 

management programme (DMP) 

8 475 857

Number of beneficiaries on the HIV DMP 219 618

Number of male beneficiaries medically 

circumcised 

42 323

Number of beneficiaries tested for HIV 669 547

Number of people currently receiving ART 260 057

HIV prevalence among covered 

beneficiaries 

623 237

Number of live births to women known to 

be HIV+ 

16 842

Number of infants born to HIV+ women 

who received a virological test for HIV 

within two months of birth 

4 809

Number of HIV-exposed infants who 

initiated antiretroviral prophylaxis 

1 673

Number of pregnant women with known 

HIV status 

10 173

 Number of beneficiaries for which viral 

load was taken 

201 544

*77.5% of the people on ART had their viral load taken
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Mid-year reporting: January to June 2017

Indicator Achievement

Number of beneficiaries on DMP 8 729 116

Number of male beneficiaries medically 

circumcised:

14 491

Number of beneficiaries tested for HIV 511 915

Number of people receiving ART in the last 

report period

278 624

HIV prevalence among covered 

beneficiaries

335 435

PMTCT 1: Number of live births to women 

known to be HIV+:

12 830

PMTCT 2: Number of infants born to HIV+ 

women who received a virological test for 

HIV within two  months of birth

5 601

PMTCT 3: Number of HIV- exposed infants 

who initiated ARV prophylaxis

2 549

PMTCT 4: Number of pregnant women 

with known HIV status

922

Number of beneficiaries for whom viral 

load was taken

254 980

Reported data will be part of the World AIDS Day report which 

will be released by UNAIDS on 1 December 2018.

NSP M&E annual progress reports (2016/17)

The M&E Unit compiled annual progress reports (both national 

and provincial) for 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017. These reports 

served as final progress reports for the NSP for HIV, TB and 

STIs (2012-2016). The annual progress reports presented 

data for achievements against targets and emerging trends 

for the five-year implementation period. 

Compilation was based on data obtained from various 

secondary data sources. Detailed provincial reports for the 

same period were compiled and provide more information on 

provincial activities.

The key findings for the period under review included the 

following:

• The country recorded the highest HIV prevalence, 30.8%, 

which consistently increased over the five-year period of 

the implementation of NSP 2012-2016, demonstrating 

the effect of the rollout of the ART programme

• The number of new HIV infections was reduced by 24.5%, 

from 353 671 in 2011 to 266 988 by March 2017. Thus, 

the country reached 49% of its target to reduce new HIV 

infections by 50% by the end of the implementation of 

NSP 2012-2016:

 - While incidence rates were relatively higher for 

women aged 15 to 24 (2.04%) and 15 to 49 (1.23%) 

compared to males of the same age groups, the 

Thembisa data (2017) show that women had a 

higher incidence reduction, 0.50% (age 15 to 24) and 

0.42% (age 15 to 49) compared to men in the same 

age groups (0.27% and 0.29% respectively)

 - The number of new HIV infections at or before birth 

reduced by 59% between 2011 and 2017, while new 

HIV infections post-partum reduced by 31%

• According to Thembisa estimates, ART coverage showed 

a significant increase, from 27.6% in 2011 to 55.7% in 2016

• The effectiveness of the Elimination of mother-to-child 

transmission programme was observed, with the infant 

polymerase chain reaction test positivity rate at 1.3% in 

2016/17 compared to 1.5% in 2015/16 (NDoH annual 

report 2017)

• Overall, the data show an increase in the number of people 

on ART with a viral load of <400 copies/ml between 2011 

and 2016

• The data show a steady decline in adolescent delivery rate 

in public health facilities, from a high of 8.1% in 2011 to 

6.8% in 2016. This represents a 16% reduction.

The major challenges encountered included:

• Delays and difficulties in SANAC accessing data from 

different stakeholders, including some government 

departments

• Data on viral load monitoring, among other non-medical 

indicators, were not available

• Unavailability of data limits the ability of stakeholders to 

use data for decision making and improvements

• HIV+ TB mortality increased from 133/100 000 in 2015 

to 181/100 000 in 2017 according to the World Health 

Organisation Global Report

• The most recent stigma index survey was conducted in 

2014 and evidence from the provincial reports suggests 

that stigma and discrimination remained high in the 

communities particularly for people living with HIV 

(PLHIV) and key population groups.

Despite the challenges presented above, there is evidence 

that the country is on course to achieve its vision of zero 

new infections, zero preventable deaths associated with HIV 

and TB; and zero discrimination towards epidemic control. 

This report sets a baseline for future performance during the 

implementation of NSP 2017-2022.

Programme 5: Donor Coordination

Global Fund CCM

During the review year, the Global Fund CCM worked on these 

areas:

• Finalising the GF CCM governance manual to meet the 

requirement of the Global Fund Office of the Inspector 

General before the end of March 2018

• Development of the next request for funding (RFF) to be 

submitted to the GF on 6 August 2018 

• Development of the PR selection manual.

CCM meetings

• Five CCM meetings were held during the year, more 

than the usual quarterly meetings, to set up processes, 

structures and documents that will be required to develop 

the RFF. The Global Fund CCM submitted the RFF on 6 

August 2018. The CCM established two subcommittees 

to ensure that the RFF process is in good order: the RFF 

subcommittee, which oversees the development of the 

RFF, and the Governance Manual subcommittee, which 

reviews the document to ensure compliance with Global 

Fund CCM requirements. Both these subcommittees 

then report to the CCM for decision making.

RFF:

• A special subcommittee of the Global Fund CCM was 

formed, with representation from all sectors

• A team was recruited to write the RFF. It developed a 

standardised presentation to be used for consultation 

and this was presented to and approved by the Global 

Fund CCM

• The focus of the year was the consultation process 

that informs priorities for the RFF that will be chosen 

by the Global Fund CCM but informed by stakeholders. 

The consultation plan included national government 

departments, the CSF, development partners and private 

sector, and a presentation at provincial AIDS council 

meetings in each of the provinces as well as a one-day 

consultation. 

PR selection manual

• A consultant was employed to lead the development of 

the PR selection manual that would select PRs in a fair 

and transparent manner while also addressing the need 

for transformation.

Global Fund CCM governance manual:

• The Global Fund CCM set up a Governance Manual 

subcommittee to review the Governance Manual and 

bring recommendations and discussion points to the 

CCM meetings for further discussion and decision 

making. This subcommittee presented a document at 

the CCM meetings in December 2017 and February 2018, 

met again in early-March 2018 to review final outstanding 

issues and presented the final version of the Governance 

Manual for approval at the CCM meeting on 15 March 

2018, where it was accepted unanimously.

Global Fund PR capacity building and oversight

Global Fund PR quarterly disbursement

• There are eight PRs in the current grant: AIDS Foundation 

South Africa, KwaZulu-Natal Treasury, Kheth’Impilo, 

NDoH, NACOSA, RTC), Soul City and Western Cape 

Department of Health. The country is one of the Global 

Fund’s high impact countries, with an allocation of  

US$ 323 832 382 for the implementation period 1 April 

2016 to 31 March 2019. 

• During the review year, the Global Fund made grant 

disbursements amounting to US$ 134 702 129.

Strategic objective Performance indicator Estimated 

performance

Actual 

performance Comments

2017/18 2017/18

To monitor progress of the 
NSP and to fulfil international 
reporting requirements.

Annual NSP M&E Report 1 1

Annual PIP M&E reports
9 8

Gauteng report has 
not been submitted

GAM Report 1 1

Development National Research 
Agenda to support the NSP

1 0



South African National AIDS Council Trust • Annual Report 2017/2018South African National AIDS Council Trust • Annual Report 2017/201832 33

PART B: PERFORMANCE REPORTPART B: PERFORMANCE REPORT

Oversight

• The CCM Oversight Committee started implementing 

operational performance excellence and coordination 

meetings and deep dives, which provide in-depth 

information on performance of each programme and 

seek to maximise performance and coordination

• The Oversight Committee also introduced country 

portfolio review (CPR) meetings before its quarterly 

meeting, at which the performance of programmes is 

reviewed in depth with a focus on quality, outcomes and 

value for money. The programmes are split so that each 

programme undergoes CPR every six months

• Towards the end of the second year of the grant, all 

programmes are assessed for underexpenditure 

and then for realignment requests to be submitted 

for consideration. Oversight Committee members 

discuss the realignment requests focusing on how the 

underexpenditure can be used to ensure targets are met, 

quality is improved and programme gaps are addressed, 

and then make recommendations to the full Global Fund 

CCM for decision making.

FFI

• Implementation of the FFI approach progressed well in 

Mpumalanga. The KwaZulu-Natal Treasury supported 

the training of the Provincial Steering Committee as well 

as the development of risk profiles for three areas in the 

province (one per district). These profiles will be linked 

with the MDIPs in the province

• The Donor Coordination Unit provides technical 

assistance to the Northern Cape Provincial AIDS Council 

for the rollout of the approach in the province. This 

included working with NACOSA to appoint a consultant 

for three months to support the process and work closely 

with the province and Western Cape Department of 

Health for the development of an MoU and workplan to 

guide the implementation and support needed

• An international IBM team of four representatives from 

Mexico, India, Poland and Finland spent four weeks 

with SANAC and the donor coordination team from 

26 February 2018, during which it reviewed and made 

recommendations for the optimisation of the FFI platform 

• Advertisements were placed in national papers for the 

appointment of a service provider to assist with the 

refinement and improvement of the existing district 

health information system 2-based  Global Fund 

management and programme monitoring system and 

FFI web application. The service provider had not been 

appointed by year end.

Programme 6: Government and Civil 
Society Support

Programme Review Committee (PRC)

The PRC, chaired by the Director-General of Health, Ms 

Precious Matsotso, and the newly elected Civil Society Co-

Chairperson, Dr Matome Kganakga, met once during the 

reporting period, focusing on prevention, including the Global 

Coalition on Prevention that took place in Geneva, Switzerland 

from 10 to 11 October 2017 as well as the South African Position 

Paper on Prevention.

SANAC plenary

The Deputy President and Ministers engaged with civil society 

at a meeting held on 24 November 2017 in Pretoria.  Based 

on the premise that implementation of the NSP takes place 

in provinces, provinces presented their PIPs and MDIPs.  

The Deputy President noted that provincial updates should 

become a permanent agenda item at SANAC plenaries 

and recommended that Premiers be encouraged to attend 

plenaries as chairpersons of their respective councils.

Civil society

During this period, the Secretariat provided support to the 

Civil Society Coordinating Committee to ensure that the 

SANAC CSF meetings and projects took place.  

Civil society and sector leaders meetings took place on the 

following dates:

• 30 May to 1 June 2017

• 26 September 2017

• 1 and 2 November 2017

• 22 and 23 March 2018.

Elections of new CSF members

A CSF member is appointed by the subsidiary CSS structure 

at the last CSS meeting of the current NSP for an initial term 

of five years.   During the meeting held in May 2017, the CSF 

held elections for leaders representing the various governance 

structures of SANAC.  The Independent Electoral Commission 

was invited to oversee the process to ensure that the elections 

were free and fair.

Eighth South African AIDS Conference in Durban

The Secretariat supported the participation of 24 sector 

leaders at the Eighth South African AIDS Conference in Durban 

from 13 to 16 June 2017, during which the leaders launched a 

civil society publication focusing on civil society organisations 

and the role that they play in the epidemic.

Institutionalisation of civil society

As part of its duties, the CSF began to refine its mandate and 

set up a clear governance framework to eliminate overlap 

with the SANAC structure, overcome ambiguity of roles and 

responsibilities, and improve coordination and access to 

resources for civil society organisations that participate in 

SANAC.  The Secretariat commissioned a feasibility review 

of institutionalisation on behalf of the CSF to test the merits 

and limitations of the envisaged institutionalisation on the 

structure and functions of the CSF. A hybrid model was 

presented for consideration by the CSF.

Resource mobilisation for civil society

Splash for Hope

On 11 November 2016, the SANAC plenary approved a national 

HIV awareness and fundraising campaign in support of 

SANAC’s CSF sectors and networks of people living with HIV.  

UNAIDS provided initial funding, which was used to appoint 

communications agency, Sadmon, and develop the Splash 

for Hope fundraising campaign. The campaign was officially 

launched to the media on 25 April 2017, with the main event 

held on 31 October 2017 and targeted at the private sector.  

Thirty corporates participated in the event, with 17 pledging 

funds. Radio 2000 and Lesedi FM became the anchor stations 

for the campaign and were supported by Ukhozi FM, Metro FM 

and 5FM. The stations ran the call to action live reads, flighted 

PSAs and hosted several interviews.

A separate account has been established within the Trust for 

donations received.  The selected civil society organisations to 

benefit from this fundraising drive during 2017/18 include:

• National Association of People Living with HIV and AIDS

• South African Network of Religious Leaders Living with or 

Personally Affected by HIV and AIDS

• Positive Women’s Network (PWN) 

• Positive Action Campaign.

Strategic objective Performance indicator
Estimated 

performance
Actual 

performance Comments
2017/18 2017/2018

To raise and support the 
effective management of 
resources from donors for the 
implementation of the NSP

Number of CCM resolutions 
implemented

6 5  

Funds disbursed to the 
Principle Recipients by the 
Global fund

US$ 80 000 000 US$ 134 702 129
Disbursement 
exceeded

Oversight Committee Reports 
submitted to the CCM

4 4  
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National Lotteries funding

South Africa launched a massive HIV counselling and treatment 

expansion campaign in 2010 in response to the dual epidemics of 

HIV and TB. This campaign had a significant impact and, for that 

reason, the SANAC Secretariat approached the NLC for support in 

funding demand generation activities by civil society through the 

implementation of HIV testing services campaign waves. A grant 

was awarded by the NLC for the development and implementation 

of an HIV/TB testing services demand generation campaign in 

partnership with seven SANAC civil society sectors that include 

women, labour and people living with disabilities.

An operational framework for sector demand generation was 

developed and presented. Each of the seven sectors had to 

develop and submit a demand generation campaign workplan 

based on the framework below.

Ongoing sector support 

The Secretariat continued to provide ongoing to support to 

sectors, which included:

Sector Main outcome of the meeting

Men ‘Takuwani Riime!’ is a Venda expression meaning: ‘Let us stand up together!’, a call to action for men by 

men to stand up and be counted as relevant. A successful ‘Takuwani Riime!’ national men’s parliament 

was hosted from 17 to 19 November 2018 at the Council Chamber, City of Cape Town and a charter was 

developed.  Sponsorship was received from ABInBev

PLHIV meeting A one-day meeting brought together PLHIV sector leaders from the nine provinces and national groups to 

determine key intervention areas in support of NSP implementation in preparation of PEPFAR Conference of 

the Parties (COP)18.  The workshop was funded by PEPFAR  

PWN The Secretariat will continue to provide support to PWN and a meeting was held with the PLHIV sector 

and PWN staff and Board members at PWN offices on 12 December 2017.  The meeting focused mainly on 

governance and hosting an annual general meeting by PWN.  The PLHIV sector drafted resolutions from the 

meeting

National House 

of Traditional 

Leaders

 The Secretariat was invited to make a presentation during the induction of traditional leaders who are 

new members of the House.  The presentation focused on SANAC and the new NSP and their role in NSP 

implementation and, in particular, the HIV counselling and testing campaign

PLHIV sector The Secretariat supported Positive Action Campaign’s request to fund faith-based sector leaders to 

participate in their first annual spiritual revival – in Bloemfontein - to pray to end stigma

Youth The Secretariat actively participated in the Eighth Africa Conference on Sexual Health and Rights: 

‘Advancing sexual and reproductive health and rights of women and girls in Africa’.  It funded the 

participation of DSD staff, nationally and provincially, as well as two young women per NGO who benefited 

from the above programmes.  Participation provided them with an ideal opportunity to engage with youth 

from other countries and to take part in drafting an outcome statement that will be shared at the opening of 

the main conference.

Stigma Reduction programme

The Stigma Reduction programme, funded and developed 

by the SANAC Secretariat with the PLHIV sector, has been 

completed, but the Secretariat continues to provide technical 

assistance to Soul City as a PR of the Global Fund.

During this period, the Secretariat appointed implementing 

partner organisation with funding received from GIZ to 

implement the programme in two districts in the Eastern 

Cape – Buffalo City and OR Tambo and two in Mpumalanga – 

Ehlanzeni and Gert Sibande. During this period, the Secretariat 

worked closely with NACOSA, Soul City and the AIDS 

Foundation to develop a shortened half-day stigma reduction 

introductory train-the-trainer programme, which will be tested 

prior to being implemented by all of the above PRs as part of 

the Community System Strengthening programme.

Baseline assessment to reduce human rights-related 

barriers

The Global Fund seeks to expand its investment in programmes 

to remove human rights-related barriers to services and to 

intensify efforts to scale up these programmes.   The objectives 

were to identify the key human rights-related barriers to HIV 

and TB services in South Africa, describe existing programmes 

to reduce such barriers and identify gaps and challenges, and 

indicate the programme, coverage and cost components of a 

comprehensive response to existing barriers. The Secretariat 

played a leading role in facilitating the baseline assessment of 

South Africa.

National wellness campaign 

The President announced that the testing and treatment 

campaign needs to be scaled up and an additional two 

million people need to be initiated on antiretroviral treatment 

by December 2020.  The campaign will focus on the 27 

highest-burden districts.  Meetings have been taking place 

since January 2018 to reach agreement of the details of the 

wellness campaign and it was agreed that, to fast-track the 

achievement of the targets:

• A national screening, testing and treatment campaign will 

be launched that will leverage on Goal 6 of the NSP on 

leadership to mobilise South Africans to service

• The campaign will be launched by SANAC and 

coordinated by the SANAC Secretariat. The first year of 

the campaign, 2018, will involve the finalisation of the 

strategy document,  preparations for the launch, the 

resuscitation and strengthening of approximately 330 

nerve centres and provision of capacity building to the 

management teams.

Once the campaign has been launched, the Secretariat will 

monitor its performance, focusing on the 27 highest-burden 

districts, and also support districts constrained in reaching 

their targets.

Strategic objective Performance indicator
Estimated 

performance
Actual 

performance Comments 
2017/18 2017/18

Effectively and efficiently 
coordinate the implementation 
of the NSP

Report to the Board of 
Trustees regarding Plenary 2 1  

Report to the Board of 
Trustees regarding Civil 
society forum

4 3  

Report to the Board of 
Trustees regarding Program 
Review Committee

4 2  

Production of Procedural 
guidelines and 
accountability framework 
for all structures of SANAC 
according to NSP

2 1  
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PART C
GOVERNANCE

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Roles and responsibilities of the Board of Trustees

The roles and responsibilities of the Trustees are stated in the 

Trust Deed.

Trust Deed

The Trust is governed by the Trust Property Control Act 57 of 1988 

and the Trust Deed that guides how the Trust must be governed.

The Trust was established in 2002. The Trust Deed was 

amended during 2012 and the new Trust Deed was approved 

by the Trustees, the Deputy President and Minister of Health 

in the first quarter of 2013. In May 2013, the Trust Deed was 

also approved by the Minister of Finance and the SARS 

Commissioner. The Deed - as well as the documents relating 

to the change of Trustees - has been registered with the Master 

of the High Court.

Composition of the Board of Trustees 

Table 1: Composition of the Board of Trustees as at 31 March 2018

Name Designation (in 

terms of SANAC 

Trust’s Board 

structure) 

Date appointed 

Dr A Ntsaluba Chairperson of the 

Trustees

September 2013

Ms S Khama Trustee January 2016

Ms ME Letsike Trustee September 2013

Prof K Mlisana Trustee January 2016

Ms H Motau Trustee October 2017

Ms T Orleyn Trustee January 2016

Dr Y Pillay Trustee January 2016

Ms E Letlape Trustee October 2017

Mr Y Abba Omar Trustee October 2017

Mr M Zazini Trustee January 2016

RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk management entails the identification of key risks, risk 

evaluation and risk-mitigating strategies. Risks are evaluated 

based on their inherency and the effectiveness of mitigation 

controls. Any gap between the accepted level of risk and the 

residual risk after mitigating strategies is investigated and 

additional controls and procedures implemented to bring all 

risk to an acceptable level.

The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the risk 

management procedures of the Trust and its findings are 

outlined in the report of the Audit and Risk Committee below. 

INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEES 

The purpose of the Internal Audit is to review the functioning 

of internal controls. It reports to the CEO and the Audit and 

Risk Committee on all matters of internal control and related 

challenges.

NEXIA-SAB&T continued its appointment as internal auditor 

throughout the year and reported to the Audit and Risk 

Committee.

FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

A comprehensive fraud and corruption policy has been developed 

and implemented. No issues were identified during the year.

MINIMISING CONFLICTS OF 
INTEREST 

All staff have been advised of the need to declare any conflicts 

of interest in any procurement in which they may be involved. 

All staff have signed declarations of interest as required by the 

human resources policy. 

To register on the supplier database, all suppliers are required 

to disclose any conflicts of interest. 

CODE OF CONDUCT 

A code of conduct has been developed and implemented. All 

new staff are made aware of the code and commit to it in their 

contract of employment.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 

The SANAC Trust complies with health and safety laws and 

regulations. The Audit and Risk Committee (‘the Committee’) 

GOVERNANCE

PART C: GOVERNANCE
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is pleased to present its report for the financial period ended 

31 March 2018.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
MANDATE AND TERMS OF 
REFERENCE

The Committee has adopted formal terms of reference as its 

Audit and Risk Committee Charter (“the Charter”), which is 

reviewed regularly. The Committee operates in accordance 

with the Charter and has executed its responsibilities 

contained therein.

The Committee is a sub–committee of the Board of Trustees. 

Its roles and responsibilities include those assigned to it by the 

Board of Trustees and industry best practice.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE AT 
MEETINGS

At 31 March 2018, the Committee consisted of five non-

executive members, three of whom are members of the Board 

of Trustees. The Charter requires the Committee to hold at 

least four meetings per annum. During the financial year 

ended 31 March 2018 the Committee held six meetings.

The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, the 

Trust Secretary and representatives of the external and 

internal auditors attend the Committee meetings by invitation. 

The internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to 

the Committee.

DUTIES

The Committee fulfils an oversight role regarding SANAC 

Trust’s annual report and the reporting process, including 

the system of internal financial control. It is responsible for 

ensuring that SANAC Trust’s internal audit function, which is 

outsourced, is independent and has the required resources, 

standing and authority within the organisation to enable it to 

effectively discharge its duties. Furthermore, the committee 

oversees cooperation between the internal and external 

auditors and serves as a link between the Board of Trustees 

and these functions.

In the conduct of its duties, the Committee has performed the 

following:

Oversight of risk management

The Committee fulfils an oversight role regarding financial 

reporting risks, internal financial controls, fraud risk as it relates 

to financial reporting and information technology risks as

they relate to financial reporting. The Committee obtained 

assurance from management that the processes and 

procedures followed in terms of acceptable risk management 

procedures are adequate to ensure that financial risks are 

identified and monitored.

Internal financial control

The Committee approved an internal audit charter and 

internal audit plan.

Nexia SAB&T is contracted as an outsourced internal 

audit function to review and provide assurance on the 

appropriateness, adequacy and effectiveness of SANAC 

Trust’s internal control environment.

The head of internal audit is responsible for reporting the 

findings of the internal audit engagement against the agreed 

internal audit plan to the Committee on a regular basis. The 

internal auditors rated SANAC Trust’s overall performance 

of the audited activities completed at March 2018 as “Some 

improvement needed”.

The Committee is of the opinion that SANAC Trust’s system of 

internal control and financial reporting procedures are suitably 

adequate and effective to form a basis for the preparation of 

reliable financial statements.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND 
RISK COMMITTEE FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

External audit

Based on processes followed and assurances obtained, the 

Committee does not believe that there were:

• Limitations in the external auditor’s (ARC Chartered 

Accountants and Auditors Incorporated) independence; or

• Complaints relating to the accounting practices and 

internal audit of SANAC Trust, the content or auditing of 

its financial statements, the internal financial controls of 

SANAC Trust, and any other related matters.

The Committee, in consultation with SANAC Trust’s 

management, agreed the engagement letter, terms, audit plan 

and budgeted audit fees for the 2018 financial year.

In addition to their statutory duties, the external auditors also 

performed a limited assurance review on the performance 

information included in the Annual Report of the Trust.

Evaluation of the annual financial statements

The Committee reviewed the annual financial statements of 

SANAC Trust and is satisfied that it complies with International 

Financial Reporting Standards.

Regulatory compliance

The Committee is not aware of any matters of non-compliance 

relating to any applicable legal and regulatory responsibilities.

APPRECIATION

We wish to acknowledge the dedication and hard work 

performed by management and other officials. We are grateful 

and appreciative of their support and consistent value adding 

contributions.

STATEMENT BY THE CHAIRPERSON 
OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Committee has complied with legal, regulatory and other 

responsibilities assigned to it by the Board of Trustees. In 

making these assessments, we have obtained confirmations 

from management, external and internal audit.

We recommend the annual report including the annual 

financial statements to the Board of Trustees for approval.

For and on behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee 

Monique Malan 

ACTING CHAIRPERSON 

18 October 2018
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Programme
Total expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel 

expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel 

expenditure 

as % of total 

expenditure

No. of employees

Average 

personnel cost 

per employee 

(R’000)

All programmes 69 932 27 047 38% 46 593

Total expenditure for programme divided by personnel expenditure. 

EMPLOYMENT AND VACANCIES 

The approved human resource complement of the Trust during this reporting period was 55. At the end of this reporting period, the 

Trust had 46 full-time employees and nine vacancies as per the table below. 

Table 2: Employment and vacancies per programme 

Unit

2017/18

number of 

employees

2017/18

approved 

posts

2017/18 

vacancies

filled

2017/18

vacancies

Communication 2 1 1 1

Financial Services and Administration 7 0 1 0

Strategic Information 12 1 1 1

NSP Implementation 8 1 0 3

Human Resources 5 1 2 0

Resource Mobilisation and Donor Coordination 5 0 2 1

CEO’s Office 3 1 3 0

Stakeholder Management and Campaigns 4 3 0 3

Total 46 8 10 9

EQUITY (equity targets will be set in the next reporting period)

The tables below illustrate the human resource equity of the Trust. Based in its size, the Trust does not have to comply with broad-based 

black economic empowerment codes, but its turnover exceeds R5 million, which requires that it develop and identify equity targets. 

Table 3: Equity 

Level
African Coloured Indian/Asian White

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female

Top management 1 1

Senior management 1 3 1

Professional qualified  9 14 1 3

Skilled 1 4 1 1 0

Semi-skilled 2 1

Unskilled 2

Total 12 25 0 1 3 1 0 4

Disabled staff 

The Trust does not have any persons with disabilities in its employ.

*Wherever used herein, a pronoun in the masculine gender shall be considered as including the feminine gender unless the context 

clearly indicates otherwise.
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PART E
ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 MARCH 2018

SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST

(Registration number IT 6481/02)

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

ARC Chartered Accountants & Auditors Incorporated

Registered Chartered Accountants & Auditors (S.A)

These annual financial statements have been audited in compliance with the applicable 

requirements of the Trust Deed.

Issued 4 October 2018
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Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa

Principal activities of the Trust The South African National Aids Council Trust supports the 

implementation of the National Strategic Plan for HIV, TB and STI's 

and promote and secure nationally in South Africa the provision of 

related educational, prevention, care and treatment programmes 

and to promote or advocate for the human rights of persons infected 

with or affected by HIV, TB and STI's; and research in relation to these 

diseases and their impact.

Trustees Ms S Khama Appointed Jan 2016

Chairperson to May 2017 Dr G Ramokgopa Appointed Jan 2016, resigned July 2017

Ms M Letsike Appointed Sept 2013

Prof K Mlisana Appointed Jan 2016

Chairperson from June 2017 Dr A Ntsaluba Appointed Sept 2013

Ms T Orleyn Appointed Jan 2016

Dr Y Pillay Appointed Jan 2016

Mr P Ramothwala Appointed Jan 2016, resigned July 2017

Mr M Tshemese Appointed Jan 2016, resigned July 2017

Mr M Zazini Appointed Jan 2016

Mr Y Abba Omar Appointed Oct 2017

Ms C Dudumashe Appointed Jun 2017, resigned Nov 2017

Ms F Letlape Appointed Oct 2017

Ms H Motau Appointed Oct 2017, resigned Sept 2018

Ms A Mthombeni Appointed Jun 2017

Registered office Second  Floor, Block E, Hatfield Gardens

333 Grosvenor Street

Pretoria

0028

Postal address P.O. Box 13912

Hatfield

0028

Bank ABSA Bank Limited

Auditors ARC Chartered Accountants & Auditors Incorporated

Registered Chartered Accountants & Auditors (S.A)

Trust registration number IT 6481/02

Level of assurance These annual financial statements have been audited in compliance

with the applicable requirements of the Trust Deed.

Preparer The annual financial statements were independently compiled by:

Green Dot Consulting

External Reporting Professional

Issued 4 October 2018
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The trustees are required in terms of the Trust Deed to maintain 

adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 

content and integrity of the annual financial statements and 

related financial information included in this report. It is their 

responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements 

fairly present the state of affairs of the SANAC Trust as at 

the end of the financial year and the results of its operations 

and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. The external 

auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on 

the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and are 

based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently 

applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 

and estimates.

The trustees acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible 

for the system of internal financial control established by the 

Trust and place considerable importance on maintaining a 

strong control environment. To enable the trustees to meet 

these responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal 

control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost 

effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation 

of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 

effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation 

of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 

are monitored throughout the Trust and all employees are 

required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring 

the Trust ’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 

reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of 

risk management in the Trust is on identifying, assessing, 

managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the 

Trust. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the 

Trust endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate 

infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are 

applied and managed within predetermined procedures and 

constraints.

The trustees are of the opinion, based on the information 

and explanations given by management, that the system 

of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the 

financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 

annual financial statements. However, any system of internal 

financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The trustees have reviewed the Trust’s cash flow forecast for 

the year to 31 March 2019 and, in light of this review and the 

current financial position, they are satisfied that the Trust has 

or had access to adequate resources to continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently 

auditing and reporting on the Trust’s annual financial 

statements. The annual financial statements have been 

examined by the Trust’s external auditors and their report is 

presented on pages 47 to 48.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 49 to 81, 

which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were 

approved by the board on 4 October 2018 and were signed on 

their behalf by:

Approval of financial statements

Chairperson Board of Trustees

TRUSTEES’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES AND 
APPROVAL

To the trustees of the South African National AIDS 

Council Trust

Opinion

We have audited the annual financial statements of SANAC 

Trust set out on pages 49 to 79, which comprise the statement 

of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in reserves and 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

annual financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present 

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of South 

African National AIDS Council Trust as at 31 March 2018, and 

its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards and the requirements of the Trust Deed.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the annual financial statements section of 

our report. We are independent of the Trust in accordance 

with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors Code 

of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA 

Code) and other independence requirements applicable to 

performing audits of annual financial statements in South 

Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other 

ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South 

Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International 

Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the 

audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The 

other information comprises the Trustees’ Report and the 

Audit Committee’s Report as required by the Trust Deed 

of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this 

report. Other information does not include the annual financial 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not cover 

the other information and we do not express an audit opinion 

or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the annual financial 

statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the annual financial statements 

or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 

to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 

of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the Annual Financial 

Statements

The trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of the annual financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and 

the requirements of the Trust Deed, and for such internal 

control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of annual financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, the trustees are 

responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 

going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the Trust or to 

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

PG 7ANNUAL PERFORMANCE PLAN 2018/19

FOREWORD BY  
THE CHAIRPERSON  

OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

It has now been a year since the Deputy President launched the country’s fourth National Strategic Plan 

(NSP) for HIV, TB and STIs on 31 March 2017. It now falls on the South African National AIDS Council 

(SANAC) to ensure that the groundwork has been laid to drive the successful implementation of the NSP. 

As a result, the next financial year is a pivotal one for SANAC, the Trust and the Secretariat, as we work 

together with government, business, civil society, development partners and communities, to achieve the 

ambitious goals of the NSP.

The SANAC Trust has grown in strength over the last year and ensured an increasing level of corporate 

governance over the Secretariat. This is evidenced by a fourth consecutive unqualified audit opinion of the 

governance, compliance, financial management and programmatic performance.

The Trustees have reviewed the mandate of the Trust as recorded in the Trust Deed and have resolved to 

clarify that the role of the Trust is primarily to fulfil functions related to the NSP that focus on coordination, 

support, monitoring and resource mobilisation. The Trust’s programme for the next year must therefore 

aim to fulfil these objectives as far as possible with the available resources. 

The SANAC Trust must also support the Deputy President in his role as the Chairperson of SANAC as the 

body that brings together government, civil society, the private sector and development partners to dis-

cuss policies and monitor the progress of the HIV, TB and STI responses in South Africa. 

On behalf of my fellow Trustees I would like to give the Deputy President and the public the assurance that 

there is good corporate governance of the Trust and that the objectives of the Trust are being met.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the CEO and his management team for putting together 

the following 2018/19 Annual Performance Plan.  We have no doubt that this Plan will bring us closer to 

achieve the objectives of the Trust and contribute significantly to the goals of the NSP.

Dr. Ayanda Ntsaluba

Chairperson of the Board of Trustees
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Annual 

Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the annual financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 

and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

International Standards on Auditing will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 

of these annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards 

on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 

to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 

the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s 

internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the trustees.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees use of 

the going concern basis of accounting and based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the annual financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 

the annual financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the annual financial statements represent 

the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the trustees regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

ARC Chartered Accountants & Auditors Incorporated

Per: F. van Heerden CA(S.A.)/RA

Associate

4 October 2018

Johannesburg

1st Floor, Unit 5

299 Pendoring Avenue

Blackheath Ext 6

2195

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017

Note R R 

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 1 004 585 1 055 017

Intangible assets 4 2 624 998 12 090

3 629 583 1 067 107

Current Assets

Receivables 5 4 076 159 10 516 199

Other financial assets 6 51 269 850 16 193 131

Cash and cash equivalents 7 96 442 168 73 987 080

151 788 177 100 696 410

Total Assets 155 417 760 101 763 517

Equity and Liabilities

Equity 

Retained income 22 144 360 20 299 495

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Operating lease liability 8 804 271 1 046 367

Current Liabilities

Payables 9 5 260 042 5 790 386

Operating lease liability 8 144 165 144 165

Deferred income 10 126 179 870 73 775 896

Provisions 11 885 052 707 208

132 469 129 80 417 655

Total Liabilities 133 273 400 81 464 022

Total Equity and Liabilities 155 417 760 101 763 517
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STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2018 2017

Note R R 

Income 12 66 069 132 65 776 522

Project expenses (69 931 843) (71 429 674)

Operating deficit 13 (3 862 711) (5 653 152)

Investment income 14 5 774 194 2 985 116

Fair value adjustments 15 (66 618) 160 309

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 1 844 865 (2 507 727)

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 1 844 865 (2 507 727)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN RESERVES

Retained 
income

Total 
reserves

R R

Balance at 1 April 2016 22 807 222 22 807 222

Deficit for the year (2 507 727) (2 507 727)

Balance at 1 April 2017 20 299 495 20 299 495

Surplus for the year 1 844 865 1 844 865

Balance at 31 March 2018 22 144 360 22 144 360
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STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS

2018 2017

Note R R 

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 16 54 845 627 67 686 431

Interest income 5 774 194 2 985 116

Net cash from operating activities 60 619 821 70 671 547

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (407 871) (68 522)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 3 - 827

Purchase of intangible assets 4 (2 613 528) (12 400)

Purchase of financial assets (35 143 337) (11 594 031)

Net cash from investing activities (38 164 736) (11 674 126)

Total cash movement for the year 22 455 088 58 997 421

Cash at the beginning of the year 73 987 080 14 989 659

Total cash at end of the year 7 96 442 168 73 987 080

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below. 

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with, and in compliance with, 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the requirements of the Trust Deed and International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparing these annual financial statements 

and the Trust Deed of South Africa, as amended.

These annual financial statements comply with the requirements of the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants Financial 

Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the 

Financial Reporting Standards Council.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the accounting 

policies which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in Rands, which is the 

company’s functional currency.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period. 

1.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Trust holds for its own use and which are expected to be used for more 

than one year.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 

with the item will flow to the Trust, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the 

acquisition or construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are 

capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Trust and the cost can be 

measured reliably. Day to day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 

losses.
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Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is ready for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write 

off the asset’s carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the 

pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed by the Trust. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent manner 

over the shorter of their expected useful lives and the lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual 

value exceeds or is equal to its carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified 

as held for sale or derecognised.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

IT equipment Straight line 3 years

Office equipment Straight line 5 years

Leasehold improvements Straight line Over  the  remaining  lease

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the 

expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is 

depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. When 

the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, 

an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 

its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included 

in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and 

equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

1.3 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Trust; and

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.
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Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.

• there is an ability to use or sell it.

• it will generate probable future economic benefits.

• there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset.

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to 

the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, 

but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other 

intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the 

asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its 

useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as 

intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item Amortisation method Average useful life

Capitalised developments costs Straight line Indefinite

Patents, trademarks and other rights Straight line 20 years
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1.4 Financial instruments

Classification

The Trust classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit

• Loans and receivables

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at initial 

recognition. Classification is re- assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair value 

through surplus or deficit, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through surplus or deficit category.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Trust becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The Trust classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or 

an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, 

which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the initial 

measurement of the instrument.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through surplus or deficit are subsequently measured at fair value, with gains and losses arising 

from changes in fair value being included in surplus or deficit for the period.

Net gains or losses on the financial instruments at fair value through surplus or deficit exclude dividends and interest.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 

impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred 

and the Trust has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Fair value determination

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for 

unlisted securities), the Trust establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length 

transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing 

models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the Trust assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through surplus or deficit, to determine 

whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the Trust, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and 

default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the 

date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been 

recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in surplus or 

deficit within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance account. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss

These include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition after transaction date.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling to realise a return.
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Receivables

Accounts receivable are measured at initial recognition at cost, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there 

is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 

bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered 

indicators that the account receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial 

recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised 

in profit or loss within operating expenses. When an account receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance 

account for accounts receivable. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses 

in surplus or defecit.

Payables

Trade payables are initially measured at cost, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 

method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are 

readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

1.5 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified 

as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the 

amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. This liability is not 

discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease 

term.
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1.6 Impairment of assets

The Trust assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 

indication exists, the Trust estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not 

possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 

the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 

amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit 

or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

The Trust assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 

assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of 

those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.7 Reserves

Reserves are comprised of the initial donation in the Trust after surplus or deficit for each financial year.

1.8 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation 

leave and sick leave), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their 

entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.
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1.9 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the Trust has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement 

shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. 

The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the 

amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

If the Trust has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a 

provision.

1.10  Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that:

• the Trust will comply with the conditions attaching to them; and

• the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs that they are 

intended to compensate.

A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 

immediate financial support to the Trust with no future related costs is recognised as income of the period in which it becomes 

receivable.

Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, are presented in the statement of financial 

position by setting up the grant as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the asset.

Grants related to income are presented as a credit in the profit or loss.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the event of default the repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against any un-amortised deferred credit set up 

in respect of the grant. To the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred credit, or where no deferred credit exists, the 

repayment is recognised immediately as an expense.

Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the deferred 

income balance by the amount repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation that would have been recognised to date as an 

expense in the absence of the grant is recognised immediately as an expense.

1.11  Related party transactions

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the reporting Trust and a related party. 

Related party transactions are recorded in the notes to the financial statements when the transaction is not at arm’s length. 

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 

activities of the Trust. The number of individuals and their full compensation is recorded in the notes to the financial statements.

1.12  Income

Income comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from grants, donations and fundraising activities.

Income is recognised as follows:

Non-designated funds (Grants)

Grants are accounted for on a cash received basis.

Designated programme funds (Grants)

Designated programme funds received are deferred and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when utilised.

Designated funds are those funds the use of which is restricted by the donor for specified projects.

Donations in kind (Designated and non-designated)

Donations in kind (asset or service) are recognised at fair value on the date of receipt.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.



South African National AIDS Council Trust • Annual Report 2017/2018South African National AIDS Council Trust • Annual Report 2017/201862 63

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATIONPART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Trust had not adopted any standards and interpretations.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Trust has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory 

for the Trust’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2018 or later periods:

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Effective date for the Trust: 31 March 2019

Expected impact:

This standard replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and certain relevant interpretations.

The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognising revenue: at a 

point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much 

and when revenue is recognised.

Management has assessed the impact of this standard and has concluded that IFRS 15 is expected to have an immaterial impact 

on the financial information presented in the annual financial statements, as the Trust already recognises revenue as and when it 

satisfies its performance obligations towards its donors.

IFRS 15, however, has a material qualitative impact on the annual financial statements as the Trust will be required to disclose 

onerous additional information.

Management continues to monitor the impact of IFRS 15 on new contracts with donors.
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IFRS 16 - Leases

Effective date for the Trust: 31 March 2020

Expected impact:

IFRS 16 eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between on- balance sheet finance leases 

and off- balance sheet operating leases. Instead, there is a single, on- balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current 

finance lease accounting. Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance 

and operating leases.

Management has assessed the impact of this standard on its operating lease relating to the leasing of its premises and has concluded 

that in application of this standard, the Trust will initially recognise a right-of-use asset and lease liability based on the discounted 

payments required under the lease, taking into account the lease term as determined under the new standard. Management does 

not expect significant changes in operating profit, as the lease expense will be replaced by interest and depreciation.

Specifically, the following will be affected:

• A lease asset will be recognised in the statement of financial position based on discounted payments under the lease.

• A lease liability will be recognised in the statement of financial position based on discounted payments under the lease.

• Depreciation will be calculated based on the lease term and be presented in the statement of comprehensive income.

• Interest will be calculated on the lease liability and disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income.

• The single line item “operating lease expense” in the statement of comprehensive income will be eliminated as a result (if 

material).

2.3 Non-applicable standards, amendments and interpretations

The other remaining standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective have been assessed for applicability 

to the Trust and management has concluded that they are not applicable to the business of the Trust and will therefore have no 

impact on the future financial statements.
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3. Property, plant and equipment

2018 2017

Cost
Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying 
value

R R R R R R 

IT equipment 740 856 (554 160) 186 696 743 626 (711 994) 31 632

Leasehold improvements 588 368 (333 408) 254 960 588 368 (215 735) 372 633

Office equipment 979 970 (417 041) 562 929 957 058 (306 306) 650 752

Total 2 309 194 (1 304 609) 1 004 585 2 289 052 (1 234 035) 1 055 017

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2018

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

R R R R R 

IT equipment 31 632 384 959 (27 505) (202 390) 186 696

Leasehold improvements 372 633 - - (117 673) 254 960

Office equipment 650 752 22 912 - (110 735) 562 929

1 055 017 407 871 (27 505) (430 798) 1 004 585

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2017

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

R R R R R 

IT equipment 137 155 37 836 (824) (142 535) 31 632

Leasehold improvements 490 307 - - (117 674) 372 633

Office equipment 748 577 30 686 - (128 511) 650 752

1 376 039 68 522 (824) (388 720) 1 055 017
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4. Intangible assets

2018 2017

Cost
Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying 
value Cost

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying 
value

R R R R R R 

Capitalised development 

costs 2 613 528 - 2 613 528 - - -

Trademark 12 400 (930) 11 470 12 400 (310) 12 090

Total 2 625 928 (930) 2 624 998 12 400 (310) 12 090

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018

Opening
balance Additions Amortisation Total

R R R R 

Capitalised development costs - 2 613 528 - 2 613 528

Trademark 12 090 - (620) 11 470

12 090 2 613 528 (620) 2 624 998

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2017

Opening
balance Additions Amortisation Total

R R R R

Trademark - 12 400 (310) 12 090

5. Receivables

2018 2017

R  R  

Accounts receivable 259 28 896

Accrued interest 125 654 -

Deposits held 797 634 774 636

Donations receivable 1 957 056 5 009 692

Value added taxation 1 195 556 4 702 975

4 076 159 10 516 199

 Fair value of accounts receivable

Receivables are all interest free. The fair value is considered to be equal to the carrying value and all receivables are considered to 

be short term in nature. The impact of discounting is not considered to be material.
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6. Other financial assets

2018 2017

R  R  

At fair value through surplus or deficit - designated

Unit Trusts 51 269 850 16 193 131

Investment in unit Trusts with Momentum Collective Investments Limited

Current assets

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 51 269 850 16 193 131

7. Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017

R  R  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 72 858 058 57 670 566

Cash on hand 1 923 337

Short-term deposits 23 582 187 16 316 177

96 442 168 73 987 080

Funds are kept on short term deposit to earn interest as per investment policy. Funds are withdrawn as needed to meet obligations. 

Interest earned on investments at 7.3 % pa (2017: 7.17 % pa).

8. Operating lease liability

2018 2017

R  R  

Non-current liabilities (804 271) (1 046 367)

Current liabilities (144 165) (144 165)

(948 436) (1 190 532)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the 

amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. This liability is not 

discounted.
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9. Payables
2018 2017

R  R  

Accounts payable 648 748 1 435 451

Accruals 4 611 294 4 354 935

5 260 042 5 790 386

Project allocation of accruals

Communication 498 168 215 811

Development costs 1 802 000 -

Donor coordination 240 921 1 472 191

Governance and administration 409 193 323 007

Government and civil society 818 408 3 041

Monitoring and evaluation 305 924 498 454

NSP coordination 536 680 1 226 815

Remuneration - 615 616

4 611 294 4 354 935

Fair value of accounts payable

Payables are all interest free, the fair value is considered to be equal to the carrying amount and are considered to be current due 

to their short-term nature.
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10.   Deferred income

2018 2017

R  R   

Department of Social Development 108 532 903 69 305 589

Department of Social Development (Core Funding) 3 828 679 -

Detsche Gesellschaft fur Internationale Zusammenarbeit 1 376 984 -

Estee Laude MAC AIDS Fund - 916 506

Global Fund 1 913 965 2 544 621

Networking HIV & Aids Community of Southern Africa 147 109 -

National Lotteries Council 3 293 564 -

National Department of Health 6 281 806 -

Splash for Hope 804 860 -

World Health Organisation - 1 009 180

126 179 870 73 775 896

Deferred income consists of designated programme funds (Grants). Designated programme funds received are deferred and 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when utilised. Designated funds are those funds the use of which is 

restricted by the donor for specified projects.

11. Provisions

Opening
balance Additions

Utilised during
the year Total

R R R R 

Reconciliation of provisions - 2018

Provision for leave pay 707 208 332 643 (154 799) 885 052

Reconciliation of provisions - 2017

Provision for leave pay 576 659 271 249 (140 700) 707 208

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018
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12.  Income

2018 2017

R  R  

Government grants 42 340 202 31 261 698

Other grants 23 728 930 34 514 824

66 069 132 65 776 522

Designated Grants

Centre for Disease Control 10 894 945 19 089 409

Department of Social Development 19 903 688 14 550 698

Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Internationale Zusammenarbeit 5 375 373 5 560 800

Global Fund 5 017 603 8 357 421

National Lotteries Commission 206 436 -

Other 1 225 392 1 016 374

World Health Organisation 1 009 180 490 820

43 632 617 49 065 522

2018 2017

R  R  

Non-designated Grants

Department of Social Development 11 171 321 -

National Department of Health 11 265 194 16 711 000

22 436 515 16 711 000

The amount included in revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services included in revenue are as follows:

2018 2017

R  R  

Grants

Designated grants 43 632 617 49 065 522

Non-designated grants 22 436 515 16 711 000

66 069 132 65 776 522
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13. Operating surplus/deficit

Operating surplus (deficit) for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following, amongst others:

2018 2017

R  R  

Auditor's remuneration - external

Audit fees 340 788 266 186

Leases

Contingent rentals on operating leases

Premises 1 794 914 1 794 914

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 430 798 388 720

Amortisation of intangible assets 620 310

Total depreciation and amortisation 431 418 389 030

Expenses by nature

The total marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses, research and development expenses, maintenance expenses 

and other operating expenses are analysed by nature as follows:

2018 2017

R  R  

Employee costs 27 047 030 26 031 714

Operating lease charges 1 794 914 1 794 914

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 431 418 389 030

Other expenses 40 658 481 43 214 016

69 931 843 71 429 674

14. Investment income

2018 2017

R  R  

Interest income

From investments in financial assets:

Bank and other cash 5 774 194 2 985 116

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. Fair value adjustments

2018 2017

R  R  

Fair value gains (losses)

Other financial assets (66 618) 160 309

16. Cash generated from operations

2018 2017

R  R  

Surplus/(Deficit) 1 844 865 (2 507 727)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 431 418 389 030

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 27 505 -

Interest received (5 774 194) (2 985 116)

Fair value losses (gains) 66 618 (160 309)

Movements in operating lease assets and accruals (242 096) 414 115

Movements in provisions 177 844 130 549

Changes in working capital:

Receivables 6 440 040 (5 042 949)

Payables (530 347) 3 796 942

Deferred income 52 403 974 73 651 896

54 845 627 67 686 431

17. Commitments

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)

Minimum lease payments due

2018 2017

R  R  

within one year 2 314 283 2 501 229

in second to fifth year inclusive 2 507 139 5 777 908

4 821 422 8 279 137

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the company for its office property. The lease is negotiated for a term of five 

years and rentals are fixed for five years. No contingent rent is payable. Another operating lease represents the lease payments payable 

by the Trust for its printers. The lease is negotiated on a term of 3 years and rentals are fixed for 3 years. No contingent rent is payable.
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Commitments relating to programs

Commitments consists of contracts entered into before year end that do not lead to a constructive or legal obligation at year end.

Funding for these commitments have been confirmed.

2018 2017

R  R  

Commitments 9 798 080 23 907 395

18. Related parties

Relationships
Related entity National Department of Health - The Deputy Director

General for HIV, TB, MCH and Non-Communicable

Diseases, Dr Y Pillay, is a Trustee of the South African National

Aids Council Trust

Trustees Dr A Ntsaluba

Ms SM Letsike

Ms S Khama

Mr M Zazini

Dr Y Pillay

Prof K Mlisana

Ms H Motau

Ms N Orleyn

Mr Y Abba Omar

Ms E Letlape

Ms A Mthombeni

Board appointment key management SSS Buthelezi - CEO

MC Kganakga - Acting CEO

M Nkanyuza - Acting CFO

T Samllbone - Acting CFO

A Uys - CFO

2018 2017

R  R  

Compensation to key management

F Abdullah - CEO to January 2017 - 1 712 039

MC Kganakga - Acting CEO from February to August 2017 736 703 278 428

SSS Buthelezi - CEO from September 2017 1 174 178 -

A Uys - CFO to November 2017 735 304 1 006 945

T Smallbone - Acting CFO from December 2017 to March 2018 338 547 -

M Nkanyuza - Acting CFO from March 2018 52 188 -

3 036 920 2 997 412

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Related party transactions

Refer Note 10 and Note 12 for related party transactions for NDOH Transfer Payments.

19. Trustees remuneration

The Trust Deed provides that the trustees shall not be remunerated for any professional services provided to the Trust. It is 

confirmed that no remuneration has been paid to the trustees listed in the Report of the Board of Trustees in the reporting period.

20. Categories of financial instruments

Financial
assets at fair

value through
profit/(loss)

Debt
instruments at
amortised cost

Financial
liabilities at

amortised 
cost

Equity and 
non

financial 
assets

and liabilities Total

Note R R R R R 

Categories of financial instruments - 2018

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 - - - 1 004 585 1 004 585

Intangible assets 4 - - - 2 624 998 2 624 998

- - - 3 629 583 3 629 583

Current Assets

Receivables 5 - 2 880 603 - 1 195 556 4 076 159

Other financial assets 6 51 269 850 - - - 51 269 850

Cash and cash equivalents 7 - 96 442 168 - - 96 442 168

51 269 850 99 322 771 - 1 195 556 151 788 177

Total Assets 51 269 850 99 322 771 - 4 825 139 155 417 760

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Equity Attributable to Equity 

Holders of Parent:

Reserves - - - 22 144 360 22 144 360

Total Equity - - - 22 144 360 22 144 360
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20. Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Financial
assets at fair

value through
profit/(loss)

Debt
instruments at

amortised 
cost

Financial
liabilities at

amortised 
cost

Equity and 
non

financial 
assets

and liabilities Total

Note R R R R R 

Categories of financial instruments - 2018

Non-Current Liabilities

Operating lease liability 8 - - - 804 271 804 271

Current Liabilities

Payables 9 - - 5 260 042 - 5 260 042

Operating lease liability 8 - - - 144 165 144 165

Deferred income 10 - - - 126 179 870 126 179 870

Provisions 11 - - - 885 052 885 052

- - 5 260 042 127 209 087 132 469 129

Total Liabilities - - 5 260 042 128 013 358 133 273 400

Total Equity and Liabilities - - 5 260 042 150 157 718 155 417 760

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Financial
assets at fair

value 
through

profit/(loss)

Debt
instruments 

at
amortised 

cost

Financial
liabilities 

at
amortised 

cost

Equity and 
non

financial 
assets

and liabilities Total

Note R R R R R 

Categories of financial instruments - 2017

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 - - - 1 055 017 1 055 017

Intangible assets 4 - - - 12 090 12 090

- - - 1 067 107 1 067 107

Current Assets

Receivables 5 - 5 813 224 - 4 702 975 10 516 199

Other financial assets 6 16 193 131 - - - 16 193 131

Cash and cash equivalents 7 - 73 987 080 - - 73 987 080

16 193 131 79 800 304 - 4 702 975 100 696 410

Total Assets 16 193 131 79 800 304 - 5 770 082 101 763 517

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Equity Attributable to Equity 

Holders of Parent:

Reserves - - - 20 299 495 20 299 495

Total Equity - - - 20 299 495 20 299 495
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20. Categories of financial instruments (continued)

Financial
assets at fair

value 
through

profit/(loss)

Debt
instruments at
amortised cost

Financial
liabilities at

amortised 
cost

Equity and 
non

financial 
assets

and liabilities Total

Note R R R R R

Categories of financial instruments - 2017

Non-Current Liabilities

Operating lease liability 8 - - - 1 046 367 1 046 367

Current Liabilities

Payables 9 - - 5 790 386 - 5 790 386

Operating lease liability 8 - - - 144 165 144 165

Deferred income 10 - - - 73 775 896 73 775 896

Provisions 11 - - - 707 208 707 208

- - 5 790 386 74 627 269 80 417 655

Total Liabilities - - 5 790 386 75 673 636 81 464 022

Total Equity and Liabilities - - 5 790 386 95 973 131 101 763 517

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. Risk management Financial risk management

The Trust’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Trust’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets, exchange rate, interest rate 

and political climate and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Trust’s financial performance. Risk management is 

carried out by the finance department under policies approved by the board. The board provides written principles for overall risk 

management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as interest rate risk and investment of excess liquidity.The 

audit and risk committee monitors compliance to risk management policies and evaluates the risk environment of the Trust.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Trust will not be able to meet its financial obligations as the fall due.The Trust’s risk to liquidity is 

a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Trust manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future 

commitments and funding available.

The table below analyses the Trust’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 

statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 

cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

2018 2017

R  R  

Payables 5 260 042 5 790 386

Interest rate risk

The Trust’s income and operating cash flows are linked to the market interest rates. The Trust invest surplus cash on call and 

investment accounts. Its exposure to interest rate risk is however limited by virtue of the fixed rate that surplus cash is invested at.

As of 31 March 2018, the majority of cash and cash equivalents comprised of interest bearing assets. Based on the balances as of 

31 March 2018, a 100 basis points increase would decrease the deficit by approximately R 364 157 (2017: R 384 000).

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Trust.

Credit risk consists mainly of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and other financial assets. The Trust only deposits cash with 

major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.



South African National AIDS Council Trust • Annual Report 2017/2018South African National AIDS Council Trust • Annual Report 2017/201878 79

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATIONPART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

Financial instrument

2018 2017

R  R  

Cash and cash equivalents 96 442 168 73 987 080

Receivables 2 880 603 5 813 224

Other financial assets 51 269 850 16 193 131

Foreign exchange risk

The Trust is exposed to currency risk by virtue of having long term contracts with foreign donors, which is the risk that arises as a 

result of changes in exchange rates. The exposure to currency risk is limited by virtue of the limited transactions with these donors. 

Transaction dates and settlement dates are kept close together.

22. Fair value information Fair value hierarchy

The levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Trust can access at measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Levels of fair value measurements

Level 2

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets 2018 2017

Note R R 

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

Unit trusts     6 51 269 850 16 193 131

Valuation techniques used to derive level 2 fair values

Unit- linked investments relates to units held at collective investment schemes and are priced monthly. The prices are obtained 

from the collective investment scheme management companies for the particular scheme and are based on quoted prices that 

are publicly available.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES TO THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis 

presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 

contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

24. Events after the reporting period

There were no events after the reporting period that affect the Financial Statements.

25. Taxation

SANAC Trust has been granted Public Benefit Organisation (PBO) status under section 30(3) the Income Tax Act No 58 of 1962. 

The registration has been granted retrospectively from 12 September 2002. SANAC Trust is therefore exempt form income tax 

under section 10(1)(cN) of the Income Tax Act.
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2018 2017

Note R R 

Income

Government grants 42 340 202 31 261 698

Other grants 23 728 930 34 514 824

12 66 069 132 65 776 522

Project expenses

Advertising (1 653 452) (817 709)

Amortisation

13

(620) (310)

Auditors remuneration - external auditors (340 788) (266 186)

Bank charges (203 428) (114 143)

Consulting and professional fees (3 868 703) (8 528 998)

Consulting and professional fees - accounting (549 755) (558 735)

Consulting and professional fees - legal fees (13 750) (20 005)

Consumables (25 985) (97 724)

Depreciation (430 798) (388 720)

Employee costs (27 047 030) (26 031 714)

IT expenses (594 905) (459 740)

Insurance (6 941) (6 728)

Lease rentals on operating lease (1 794 914) (1 794 914)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (27 505) (824)

Meetings (1 189 002) (2 422 322)

Motor vehicle expenses (131 078) (199 416)

Municipal expenses (55 800) (57 374)

Office expenses (283 579) (193 037)

Postage (29 374) (119 046)

Printing and stationery (1 007 918) (1 641 979)

Repairs and maintenance (66 126) (43 547)

Staff per diems (37 595) (44 865)

Subscriptions (86 592) (13 995)

Support grants (19 763 851) (11 963 156)

Telephone and fax (149 260) (181 328)

Training (27 874) (51 847)

Travel - international (243 766) (83 841)

Travel - local (7 449 530) (12 844 392)

Venue and facility hire (2 851 924) (2 483 079)

(69 931 843) (71 429 674)

Operating deficit 13 (3 862 711) (5 653 152) 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

NOTES TO THE 
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2018 2017

Note R R 

Operating deficit 13 (3 862 711) (5 653 152)

Investment income 14 5 774 194 2 985 116

Other non-operating (losses)/ gains

Fair value losses / (gains) (66 618) 160 309

Deficit for the year 1 844 865 (2 507 727)
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